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Item 1.01 Entry into a Material Definitive Agreement.
 
EV Fleet Purchase Agreement with Walmart Inc.
 

On July 11, 2022, Canoo Sales, LLC, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Canoo Inc. (the “Company”), entered into an Electric Vehicle Fleet Purchase Agreement (such
agreement, together with any work orders, purchase orders, related agreements and amendments thereunder or thereto, collectively, the “EV Fleet Purchase Agreement”) with
Walmart Inc. (“Walmart”). Pursuant to the EV Fleet Purchase Agreement, subject to certain acceptance and performance criteria, Walmart agreed to purchase at least 4,500
electric vehicles (“EVs”) manufactured by the Company, with an option to purchase up to an additional 5,500 EVs, for an agreed price per unit to be determined based on the
model but capped at an agreed upon amount as set forth in the EV Fleet Purchase Agreement. The capped price will be guaranteed for the first 10,000 EVs purchased by
Walmart. The EV Fleet Purchase Agreement (excluding any work order or purchase order as a part thereof) has a five-year term, unless earlier terminated.

 
Under the EV Fleet Purchase Agreement, the Company has agreed that, for the duration of the agreement, it will not enter into any agreement for any services

involving the design, manufacture, consult, advice, lease, or sale of EVs to, or issue any equity, equity-linked or debt securities of any type, or enter into any agreement for the
purpose of transferring control of the Company to, Amazon.com, Inc., its subsidiaries, or affiliates.

 
Pursuant to the EV Fleet Purchase Agreement, the Company and Walmart have agreed to specific acceptance criteria with respect to the EVs to be purchased, such as

reliability measures, warranties, vehicle design and components, delivery timeline and ordering and process terms. Walmart has the right to terminate the EV Fleet Purchase



Agreement if the Company fails to meet the acceptance criteria, subject to having provided notice regarding defects and customary cure periods. In addition, Walmart may
terminate the EV Fleet Purchase Agreement for convenience upon at least 30 days’ written notice. However, any such termination will not affect any work order or purchase
order submitted to the Company prior to receiving notice thereof. Either party may terminate the EV Fleet Purchase Agreement if the other party materially breaches certain
terms of the EV Fleet Purchase Agreement and does not cure such breach after 30 or 90 days’ written notice, as applicable. Following any termination of the EV Fleet Purchase
Agreement, the Company will no longer be bound by the exclusivity provisions set forth in the EV Fleet Purchase Agreement with respect to Amazon.com, Inc., its subsidiaries,
or affiliates.

 
Pursuant to the EV Fleet Purchase Agreement, the Company shall provide Walmart written notice within 72 hours of an acquisition proposal or an authorization by the

Board of Directors of the Company to initiate or pursue an acquisition proposal that would result in change of control of the Company, without providing specific details about
the potential transaction, except for the name of the potential acquirer if such potential acquirer is one of Walmart’s competitors listed in an exhibit of the EV Fleet Purchase
Agreement.

 
The foregoing description of the EV Fleet Purchase Agreement does not purport to be complete and is qualified in its entirety by reference to the full text of the EV

Fleet Purchase Agreement, a copy of which will be filed as an exhibit to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended June 30, 2022.
 

Warrant Issuance Agreement and Warrant
 

In connection with the EV Fleet Purchase Agreement, the Company and Walmart entered into a Warrant Issuance Agreement (the “Warrant Agreement”) pursuant to
which the Company issued to Walmart a warrant (the “Warrant”) to purchase an aggregate of 61,160,011 shares of fully paid and non-assessable shares of the Company’s
common stock, par value of $0.0001 (the “Common Stock”), at an exercise price of $2.15 per share. The Warrant has a term of ten years and is vested immediately with respect
to 15,290,003 shares of Common Stock. Thereafter, subject to the stockholder approval described below, if applicable, the Warrant will vest quarterly in amounts proportionate
with the net revenue realized by the Company and its affiliates from transactions with Walmart or its affiliates under the EV Fleet Purchase Agreement or enabled by any other
agreement between the Company and Walmart, and any net revenue attributable to any products or services offered by Walmart or its affiliates related to the Company or its
affiliates, until such net revenue equals $300 million, at which time the Warrant will have vested fully.
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Under the Warrant Agreement, the Company shall, as promptly as reasonably practicable following the date of the Warrant Agreement and, in any event, no later than

the Company’s 2023 annual meeting of stockholders, convene and hold a meeting of stockholders to consider and vote on the issuance of the Warrant in respect of any shares of
Common Stock in excess of 53,852,492 shares (which represents more than 20% of the Company’s outstanding Common Stock as of the date of the Warrant Agreement),
pursuant to the applicable rules of the NASDAQ Global Select Market. In the event that stockholder approval is not obtained, in lieu of any shares which would have been
issued to Walmart, the Company is required to pay to Walmart an amount in cash equal to the product of: (i) the excess of (x) the 30-day volume weighted average price per
share as of the day immediately preceding the applicable exercise date and (y) the exercise price, times (ii) the number of shares that would have been issued at such applicable
exercise date if stockholder approval had been obtained. Following such payment, the Company will cease to have further obligations in respect of the portion of the Warrant
relating to such shares.

 
Pursuant to the Warrant Agreement, Walmart has certain information rights and it or its wholly-owned subsidiaries are entitled to request that the Company register

the shares of Common Stock beneficially owned by Walmart or its wholly-owned subsidiaries, on a long-form or short-form registration statement on one or more occasions in
the future, which registrations may in certain circumstances be “shelf registrations.” Walmart or its wholly-owned subsidiaries will also be entitled to participate in certain of
the Company’s registered offerings, subject to the restrictions in the Warrant Agreement. The Company will pay all fees and expenses in connection with Walmart’s exercise of
these rights, except for underwriting discounts and commission and transfer taxes, if any.

 
The Warrant includes anti-dilution protection pursuant to which the number of shares of Common Stock to be issued upon exercise and the exercise price of the

Warrant are adjusted in the event the Company conducts certain issuances of Common Stock, subject to specific exceptions, including a qualified financing (as defined in the
Warrant), a registered public offering, and “at-the-market” offerings, including pursuant to the Company’s standby equity purchase agreement in effect.

 
The foregoing description of the Warrant Agreement and the Warrant does not purport to be complete and is qualified in its entirety by reference to the full text of the

Warrant Agreement and the Warrant, copies of which are filed with this Current Report on Form 8-K as Exhibits 4.1 and 4.2, respectively, and are incorporated herein by
reference..

 
Item 3.02 Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities.

 
The information contained in Item 1.01 under the heading “Warrant Issuance Agreement and Warrant” is incorporated herein by reference. The issuance of the

Warrant was exempt from registration pursuant to Section 4(a)(2) of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended. Walmart represented to the Company that it is an “accredited
investor” as defined in Rule 501 of the Securities Act and that the Warrant was acquired for investment purposes and not with a view to, or for sale in connection with, any
distribution thereof.
 
Item 7.01 Regulation FD Disclosure
 

On July 12, 2022, the Company issued a press release announcing the entry into the EV Fleet Purchase Agreement. A copy of the press release is furnished as Exhibit
99.1.

 
The information in this Item 7.01, including Exhibit 99.1, is being furnished and shall not be deemed “filed” for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act

of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), or otherwise subject to the liabilities of that section, nor shall such information be deemed incorporated by reference in any filing
under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Exchange Act, except as shall be expressly set forth by specific reference in such a filing.
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Forward Looking Statements
 

The information in this Form 8-K, including Exhibit 99.1, includes "forward-looking statements" within the meaning of the “safe harbor” provisions of the United
States Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Forward-looking statements may be identified by the use of words such as “estimate,” “plan,” “project,” “forecast,”
“intend,” “will,” “expect,” “anticipate,” “believe,” “seek,” “target” or other similar expressions that predict or indicate future events or trends or that are not statements of
historical matters. These forward-looking statements include, but are not limited to, statements regarding potential purchases of EVs from Walmart and timeline of such
purchases, estimates and forecasts of financial and performance metrics, expectations and timing related to commercial product launches and achievement of operational
milestones, including the ability to meet and/or accelerate anticipated production timelines and delivery, and the Company’s ability to capitalize on commercial opportunities
and anticipated customer orders, including Walmart’s orders under the EV Fleet Purchase Agreement. These statements are based on various assumptions, whether or not



identified in this document, and on the current expectations of the Company’s management and are not predictions of actual performance. These forward-looking statements are
provided for illustrative purposes only and are not intended to serve as, and must not be relied on by any investor as, a guarantee, an assurance, a prediction or a definitive
statement of fact or probability. Actual events and circumstances are difficult or impossible to predict and will differ from assumptions. Many actual events and circumstances
are beyond the Company’s control. These forward-looking statements are subject to a number of risks and uncertainties, including the Company’s inability to deliver EVs
within the timeline and with the specifications required by the EV Fleet Purchase Agreement; the Company’s inability to obtain stockholder consent for the exercise of a portion
of the Warrant, which may impact Walmart’s future orders; Walmart’s ability to terminate the EV Fleet Purchase Agreement; the effects that the exclusivity granted to Walmart
may have on the Company’s growth; the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern; ability to access future capital; changes in domestic and foreign business, market,
financial, political and legal conditions; the rollout of the Company’s business and the timing of expected business milestones and commercial launch; future market adoption of
the Company’s offerings; risks related to the Company’s go-to-market strategy and manufacturing strategy; the effects of competition on the Company’s future business; and
those factors discussed under the captions “Risk Factors” in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2021, as well as its Quarterly
Reports on Form 10-Q and other filings with the SEC These forward-looking statements should not be relied upon as representing the Company’s assessments as of any date
subsequent to the date of this document. Accordingly, undue reliance should not be placed upon the forward-looking statements.
 
Item 9.01 Financial Statements and Exhibits.

 
(d) Exhibits.
 
Exhibit No.  Description
 
4.1  Warrant Issuance Agreement, dated as of July 11, 2022, by and between Canoo Inc. and Walmart Inc.
4.2  Warrant dated July 11, 2022, issued by the Canoo Inc. to Walmart, Inc.
99.1  Press release dated July 12, 2022
104  Cover Page Interactive Data File (embedded within the Inline XBRL document)
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SIGNATURES

 
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned hereunto duly
authorized.
 
 CANOO INC.
Date: July 12, 2022   
 By: /s/ Hector Ruiz
 Name: Hector Ruiz
 Title: General Counsel and Corporate Secretary
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Exhibit 4.1
 
 
 

WARRANT ISSUANCE AGREEMENT
 

Dated as of July 11, 2022
 

by and between
 

CANOO INC.
 

and
 

WALMART INC.
 
 

 

 

 
This WARRANT ISSUANCE AGREEMENT, dated as of July 11, 2022 (this “Agreement”), is by and between Canoo Inc., a Delaware corporation (the

“Company”), and Walmart Inc., a Delaware corporation (“Walmart”).
 

RECITALS:
 

WHEREAS, the Company, through its affiliate Canoo Sales, LLC, and Walmart are parties to that certain Electric Vehicle Fleet Purchase Agreement, dated as of the
date of this Agreement (as it may be amended from time to time, including all annexes, schedules, exhibits, work orders and purchase orders thereto, collectively, the “EV
Agreement”);

 
WHEREAS, in connection with the transactions contemplated by the EV Agreement, and subject to the terms and conditions hereof, the Company desires to issue to

Walmart, and Walmart desires to acquire from the Company, concurrently with the execution of this Agreement, a warrant to purchase a specified number of shares of the
Company’s common stock, $ 0.001 par value per share (the “Common Stock”); and

 
WHEREAS, the parties wish to set forth in this Agreement certain terms and conditions regarding, among other things, Walmart’s ownership of the Warrant and

Warrant Shares (as defined below), as applicable.
 
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises, and of the representations, warranties, covenants and agreements set forth herein, and intending to be legally

bound, the parties agree as set forth herein.
 

ARTICLE I

WARRANT ISSUANCE
 

1.1 Warrant Issuance. On the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this Agreement, the Company shall issue to Walmart, and Walmart shall acquire from the
Company, concurrently with the execution of this Agreement, a warrant to purchase up to an aggregate of 61,160,011 fully paid and nonassessable shares of Common Stock
(the “Warrant Shares”), subject to adjustment in accordance with its terms, in the form attached hereto as Annex A (the “Warrant”). The issuance of the Warrant by the
Company and the acquisition of the Warrant by Walmart are referred to herein as the “Warrant Issuance”.

 
1.2 Interpretation. When a reference is made in this Agreement to “Recitals,” “Articles,” “Sections,” “Annexes” or “Schedules” such reference shall be to a Recital,

Article or Section of, or Annex or Schedule to, this Agreement unless otherwise indicated. The terms defined in the singular have a comparable meaning when used in the
plural, and vice versa. References to “herein,” “hereof,” “hereunder” and the like refer to this Agreement as a whole and not to any particular section or provision, unless the
context requires otherwise. References to parties refer to the parties to this Agreement. The table of contents and headings contained in this Agreement are for reference
purposes only and are not part of this Agreement. Whenever the words “include,” “includes” or “including” are used in this Agreement, they shall be deemed followed by the
words “without limitation.” No rule of construction against the draftsperson shall be applied in connection with the interpretation or enforcement of this Agreement, as this
Agreement is the product of negotiation between sophisticated parties advised by counsel. Any reference to a wholly owned subsidiary of a person shall mean such subsidiary is
directly or indirectly wholly owned by such person. All references to “$” or “dollars” mean the lawful currency of the United States of America. Except as expressly stated in
this Agreement, all references to any statute, rule or regulation are to the statute, rule or regulation as amended, modified, supplemented or replaced from time to time (and, in
the case of statutes, include any rules and regulations promulgated under the statute) and to any section of any statute, rule or regulation include any successor to the section.
The term “Business Day” means any day, other than a Saturday, a Sunday or any other day on which commercial banks in the State of New York are authorized or required by
Applicable Law to be closed. With respect to the Warrant and Warrant Shares, such term shall include any shares of Common Stock or other securities of the Company received
by Walmart as a result of any stock split, stock dividend or distribution, other subdivision, reorganization, reclassification or similar capital transaction.

 

 

 

 
ARTICLE II

REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES
 

2.1 Representations and Warranties of the Company. The Company represents and warrants as of the date of this Agreement and, in the case of the representation in the
last sentence of Section 2.1(c), as of the date of each issuance of Warrant Shares, to Walmart that:

 
(a) Organization and Authority. The Company has been duly incorporated and is validly existing as a corporation in good standing under the laws of the State

of Delaware, with the corporate power and authority to own its properties and conduct its business in all material respects as currently conducted, and is duly qualified as a
foreign corporation for the transaction of business and is in good standing under the laws of each other jurisdiction in which the ownership or leasing of property or the conduct
of its business requires such qualification. The Company has made available to Walmart complete and correct copies of the Company’s certificate of incorporation and bylaws,
as of the date of this Agreement, and each as so delivered is in full force and effect.

 
(b) Capitalization. The authorized capital stock of the Company consists of 500,000,000 shares of Common Stock of which, as of the date hereof,



269,262,458 shares were issued and outstanding, and 10,000,000 shares of undesignated preferred stock of which, as of the date hereof, 0 shares were issued and outstanding.
As of the date hereof, the Company had 135,074,003 shares of Common Stock reserved for issuance, including: 33,970,858 reserved for under the standby equity purchase
agreement, dated as of May 10, 2022, between the Company and YA-II PN, Ltd., 4,279,351 reserved for under the Company’s 2018 Share Option and Grant Plan, 8,015,856
reserved under the 2020 Employee Stock Purchase Plan, 49,080,716 reserved under the 2020 Equity Incentive Plan, 972,222 common stock warrants held by VDL Nedcar, and
15,000,000 contingent earnout shares and 23,755,000 warrants assumed in connection with the Company’s business combination with Hennessy Capital Acquisition Corp. IV,.
Subject to Shareholder approval the company may issue additional shares under the standby equity purchase agreement with YA-II PN. The outstanding shares of capital stock
have been, and the shares of Common Stock issuable upon the exercise of the warrants will be, duly authorized and are validly issued, fully paid and nonassessable, and subject
to no preemptive rights (and were not, and the shares of Common Stock issuable upon the exercise of the warrants will not be, issued in violation of any preemptive rights, the
Company’s certificate of incorporation, or any Applicable Law). Except as set forth above, there are no (A) shares of capital stock or other equity interests or voting securities
of the Company authorized, reserved for issuance, issued or outstanding, (B) options, warrants, calls, preemptive rights, subscription or other rights, instruments, agreements,
arrangements or commitments of any character, obligating the Company or any of its subsidiaries to issue, transfer or sell or cause to be issued, transferred or sold any shares of
capital stock or other equity interest or voting security in the Company or any securities or instruments convertible into or exchangeable for such shares of capital stock or other
equity interests or voting securities, or obligating the Company or any of its subsidiaries to grant, extend or enter into any such option, warrant, call, preemptive right,
subscription or other right, instrument, agreement, arrangement or commitment, (C) outstanding contractual obligations of the Company or any of its subsidiaries to repurchase,
redeem or otherwise acquire any capital stock or other equity interest or voting securities of the Company, or (D) issued or outstanding performance awards, units, rights to
receive any capital stock or other equity interest or voting securities of the Company on a deferred basis, or rights to purchase or receive any capital stock or equity interest or
voting securities issued or granted by the Company to any current or former director, officer, employee or consultant of the Company. No subsidiary of the Company owns any
shares of capital stock or other equity interest or voting securities of the Company. There are no voting trusts or other agreements or understandings to which the Company or
any of its subsidiaries is a party with respect to the voting of the capital stock or other equity interest or voting securities of the Company. The issuance of the Warrant and the
Warrant Shares will not result in any adjustment to the conversion price or exercise price of any securities of the Company that are convertible into, or exercisable or
exchangeable for, shares of Common Stock.
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(c) The Warrant and Warrant Shares. The Warrant has been duly authorized by the Company and constitutes a valid, legal and binding obligation of the

Company in accordance with its terms, except as the same may be limited by the Bankruptcy Exceptions. The Warrant Shares have been duly authorized and reserved for
issuance upon exercise of the Warrant and, when so issued, paid for and delivered upon due exercise of the Warrant, will be validly issued, fully paid and non-assessable, and
free and clear of any liens or encumbrances, other than liens or encumbrances arising as a matter of Applicable Law or created by or at the direction of Walmart or any of its
Affiliates.

 
(d) Authorization, Enforceability.
 
(i) The Company has the power and authority to execute and deliver this Agreement and the other Transaction Documents, as applicable, to consummate the

transactions contemplated hereby and thereby, and to carry out its obligations hereunder and thereunder, except with respect to the issuance of Warrant Shares in an
amount in excess of 20% of the shares outstanding as of the date hereof, the issuance of which shall be subject to the Company obtaining the Requisite Stockholder
Approval. The execution, delivery and performance by the Company of this Agreement and the other Transaction Documents to which it is a party and the
consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby have been duly authorized by all necessary corporate action on the part of the Company, and no
further approval or authorization is required on the part of the Company. This Agreement and the other Transaction Documents, assuming the due authorization,
execution and delivery by the other parties hereto and thereto, are valid and binding obligations of the Company, enforceable against the Company and such subsidiary,
respectively, in accordance with their respective terms, except as the same may be limited by applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium or similar
laws affecting the enforcement of creditors’ rights generally and general equitable principles, regardless of whether such enforceability is considered in a proceeding at
law or in equity (“Bankruptcy Exceptions”).
 

(ii) The execution, delivery and performance by the Company of this Agreement and the other Transaction Documents, as applicable, and the consummation of
the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby and compliance by the Company with any of the provisions hereof and thereof, will not (A) violate, conflict with, or
result in a breach of any provision of, or constitute a default (or an event which, with notice or lapse of time or both, would constitute a default) under, or result in the
termination of, or accelerate the performance required by, or result in a right of termination or acceleration of, or result in the creation of, any lien, security interest,
charge or encumbrance upon any of the properties or assets of the Company or any of its subsidiaries under any of the terms, conditions or provisions of (x) its certificate
of incorporation (or analogous organizational documents), or (y) any note, bond, mortgage, indenture, deed of trust, license, lease, agreement or other instrument or
obligation to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries is a party or by which it or any of its subsidiaries may be bound, or to which the Company or any of its
subsidiaries or any of the properties or assets of the Company or any of its subsidiaries is subject; (B) subject to compliance with the statutes and regulations referred to
in the next paragraph, violate any Applicable Law or Order applicable to the Company or any of its subsidiaries or any of their respective properties or assets; (C) result
in any payment (including severance, unemployment compensation, forgiveness of indebtedness or otherwise) becoming due to any director or any employee of the
Company or any of its subsidiaries under any employment, compensation or benefit plan, program, policy, agreement or arrangement that is sponsored, maintained or
contributed to by the Company or any of its subsidiaries (each, a “Company Benefit Plan”) or otherwise; (D) increase any benefits otherwise payable under any
Company Benefit Plan; (E) result in any acceleration of the time of payment or vesting of any such benefits; (F) require the funding or acceleration of funding of any
trust or other funding vehicle; or (G) constitute a “change in control,” “change of control” or other similar term under any Company Benefit Plan; provided, however,
that the foregoing shall not be deemed to include payments or other benefits under a Company Benefit Plan that (a) gives effect to the Company’s performance of the
Transaction Documents insofar as that performance impacts the Company’s overall results of operations, and (b) are made to any individual whose compensation is
based in part on performance related to a specific territory that is impacted by the Company’s performance of the Transaction Documents.
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(iii)        Other than (A) such notices, filings, exemptions, reviews, authorizations, consents or approvals as have been made or obtained as of the date hereof,

and (B) notices, filings, exemptions, reviews, authorizations, consents or approvals as may be required under, and other applicable requirements of (1) any Antitrust
Laws, to the extent applicable, (2) the Exchange Act, (3)  the Securities Act, and (4) The NASDAQ Global Select Market, no notice to, filing with, exemption or review
by, or authorization, consent or approval of, any federal, national, state, local, municipal, international or multinational government or political subdivision thereof,
governmental department, commission, board, bureau, agency, taxing or regulatory authority, judicial or administrative body, official, tribunal or other instrumentality
of any government, whether federal, state or local, domestic or foreign, or arbitrator or SRO (each, a “Governmental Entity”) is required to be made or obtained by the
Company or any of its subsidiaries in connection with the consummation by the Company or any of its subsidiaries of the Warrant Issuance and the other transactions
contemplated hereby and by the other Transaction Documents,. For purposes of this Agreement, “Antitrust Laws” means the HSR Act, the Sherman Act, as amended,
the Clayton Act, as amended, the Federal Trade Commission Act, as amended, and any other federal, state, local, domestic, foreign or supranational laws that are
designed to prohibit, restrict or regulate actions having the purpose or effect of monopolization or restraint of trade or that provide for review of foreign investment.
 

(e) Company Financial Statements. Each of the consolidated financial statements included in the SEC Reports (A) complied as to form, as of their respective
dates of filing with the Commission, in all material respects with the applicable accounting requirements and with the rules and regulations of the Commission, (B) were
prepared in accordance with GAAP, in all material respects, applied on a consistent basis during the periods involved (except as may be indicated in such financial statements or



in the notes thereto and subject, in the case of unaudited statements, to normal year-end audit adjustments and the absence of footnote disclosure), and (C) fairly presents, in all
material respects, the consolidated financial position and the consolidated results of operations and cash flows (and changes in financial position, if any) of the Company and its
subsidiaries as of the date and for the periods referred to in such financial statements except to the extent such financial statements have been modified or superseded by later
SEC Reports, and except, in the case of the unaudited statements, as permitted by Rule 10-01 of Regulation S-X under the Exchange Act and pursuant to Sections 13 or 15(d) of
the Exchange Act and for normal year end audit adjustments which would not be material in amount or effect.

 
(f)   Anti-Takeover Provisions. The actions taken by the Board to approve this Agreement, the Transaction Documents and the transactions contemplated

hereby and thereby, constitute all the action necessary to render inapplicable to this Agreement, the Transaction Documents and the transactions contemplated hereby and
thereby the provisions of any potentially applicable anti-takeover, control share, fair price, moratorium, interested shareholder or similar Applicable Law (including, for the
avoidance of doubt, Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law) and any potentially applicable provision of the Company’s certificate of incorporation or bylaws
(collectively, the “Anti-Takeover Provisions”). The Company is not a party to any stockholder rights plan or “poison pill” agreement.

 
(g) Reports.
 
(i)    Since December 31, 2020, the Company has complied in all material respects with the filing requirements of Sections 13(a), 14(a) and 15(d) of the

Exchange Act, and of the Securities Act.
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(ii) The SEC Reports, when they became effective or were filed with the Commission as the case may be, complied in all material respects with the

requirements of the Securities Act, the Exchange Act and SOX as applicable, and none of such documents, when they became effective or were filed with the
Commission, as the case may be, contained an untrue statement of a material fact or omitted to state a material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the
statements therein, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading, except to the extent such statements have been modified or superseded by
later SEC Reports filed or furnished and publicly available prior to the date of this Agreement.

 
2.2 Representations and Warranties of Walmart. Walmart hereby represents and warrants as of the date of this Agreement to the Company that:
 

(a) Organization. Walmart has been duly incorporated and is validly existing as a corporation in good standing under the laws of the State of Delaware, with
the corporate power and authority to own its properties and conduct its business in all material respects as currently conducted.

 
(b) Authorization, Enforceability. Walmart and each of its subsidiaries that is a party to any other Transaction Document have the corporate or analogous

power and authority to execute and deliver this Agreement and the other Transaction Documents to which it is a party, to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby and
thereby, and to carry out its obligations hereunder and thereunder. The execution, delivery and performance by Walmart, and by each of its subsidiaries that is a party to any
other Transaction Document, as applicable, of this Agreement and the other Transaction Documents to which it is a party and the consummation of the transactions
contemplated hereby and thereby have been duly authorized by all necessary corporate or analogous action on its, or such subsidiary’s or part, as applicable, and no further
approval or authorization is required on its, or such subsidiary’s part, as applicable. This Agreement and the other Transaction Documents, assuming the due authorization,
execution and delivery by the other parties hereto and thereto, are valid and binding obligations of Walmart, and such subsidiary, as applicable, enforceable against it, and such
subsidiary, as applicable, in accordance with their respective terms, except as the same may be limited by Bankruptcy Exceptions. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary
contained herein, the exercise of the Warrant, in whole of from time to time in part, may require further board of director or other management or board or management
committee approvals or authorizations on the part of Walmart or such subsidiary, as applicable.

 
ARTICLE III

COVENANTS
 

3.1 Efforts.
 

(a) Subject to the terms and conditions hereof (including the remainder of this Section 3.1) and the other Transaction Documents, each party shall use its
commercially reasonable efforts to take, or cause to be taken, all actions and to do, or cause to be done, all things necessary, proper or desirable under Applicable Law to carry
out the provisions hereof and thereof and give effect to the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby. In furtherance and not in limitation of the foregoing, each of the
parties shall (i) subject to the provisions of this Section 3.1, use its commercially reasonable efforts to obtain as promptly as reasonably practicable and advisable (as determined
in good faith by Walmart after consultation with the Company in accordance with the first sentence of Section 3.1(d)) all exemptions, authorizations, consents or approvals
from, and to make all filings with and to give all notices to, all third parties, including any Governmental Entities, required in connection with the transactions contemplated by
this Agreement and the other Transaction Documents, which, for the avoidance of doubt, shall include providing, as promptly as reasonably practicable and advisable, such
information to any Governmental Entity as such Governmental Entity may request in connection therewith, and (ii) cooperate fully with the other party in promptly seeking to
obtain all such exemptions, authorizations, consents or approvals and to make all such filings and give such notices.
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(b) Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, and only to the extent required by Applicable Law (including, for the avoidance of doubt, any Antitrust

Law), (i) as promptly as reasonably practicable after written notice from Walmart, and in any event no later than in accordance with established regulatory timeframes, the
parties shall file any Notification and Report Forms required under the HSR Act with the Federal Trade Commission and the United States Department of Justice (the date on
which all such Notification and Report Forms required under the HSR Act have been initially filed, the “HSR Filing Date if required”) and (ii) as promptly as reasonably
practicable after written notice from Walmart, file, make or give, as applicable, all other filings, requests or notices required under any other Antitrust Laws, in each case with
respect to the exercise of the Warrant Shares (the “Initial Filing Transaction”) (the filings, requests and notices described in the foregoing clauses (i) and (ii), collectively, the
“Initial Antitrust Filings”). Walmart shall be responsible for payment of all filing fees associated with the HSR Act and any other Antitrust Laws. In addition, following the
receipt of the Initial Antitrust Clearance, to the extent required by Applicable Law (including, for the avoidance of doubt, any Antitrust Law) in connection with any further
exercise of Warrant Shares (in each case, whether in full or in part), the parties shall file, make or give, as applicable, as promptly as reasonably practicable and advisable (as
determined in good faith by Walmart after consultation with the Company in accordance with the first sentence of Section 3.1(d)), any further required filings, requests or
notices required under any Antitrust Laws, including the HSR Act (collectively, the “Other Antitrust Filings”). Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, each party shall
supply as promptly as reasonably practicable to the appropriate Governmental Entities any information and documentary material that may be required pursuant to the HSR Act
or any other Antitrust Laws. For purposes of this Agreement, the term “Initial Antitrust Clearance” as of any time means (x) prior to such time, the expiration or termination of
the waiting period under the HSR Act and the receipt of all exemptions, authorizations, consents or approvals, the making of all filings and the giving of all notices, and the
expiration of all waiting periods, pursuant to any other Antitrust Laws, in each case to the extent required with respect to the Initial Filing Transaction, and (y) the absence at
such time of any Applicable Law or Order issued by any court of competent jurisdiction or other legal restraint or prohibition under any Antitrust Law, in each case that has the
effect of preventing the consummation of the Initial Filing Transaction.

 



(c) Subject to the terms and conditions hereof (including the remainder of this Section 3.1) and the other Transaction Documents, and only to the extent
required under the Antitrust Laws, each of the parties shall use its commercially reasonable efforts to avoid or eliminate each and every impediment under any Antitrust Laws
that may be asserted by any Governmental Entity, so as to enable the parties to give effect to the transactions contemplated hereby and by the other Transaction Documents in
accordance with the terms hereof and thereof; provided, that notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein or in any of the other Transaction Documents, nothing in
this Section 3.1 shall require, or be construed to require, any party or any of its Affiliates to agree to (and no party or any of its Affiliates shall agree to, without the prior written
consent of the other parties):  (i) sell, hold separate, divest, discontinue or limit (or any conditions relating to, or changes or restrictions in, the operation of) any assets,
businesses or interests of it or its Affiliates (irrespective of whether or not such assets, businesses or interests are related to, are the subject matter of or could be affected by the
transactions contemplated by the Transaction Documents); (ii) without limiting clause (i) in any respect, any conditions relating to, or changes or restrictions in, the operations
of any such assets, businesses or interests that would reasonably be expected to adversely impact (x) the business of, or the financial, business or strategic benefits of the
transactions contemplated hereby or by any of the other Transaction Documents to it or its Affiliates, or (y) any other assets, businesses or interests of it or its Affiliates; or
(iii) without limiting clause (i) in any respect, any modification or waiver of the terms and conditions of this Agreement or any of the other Transaction Documents that would
reasonably be expected to adversely impact (x) the business of, or financial, business or strategic benefits of the transactions contemplated hereby or by any of the other
Transaction Documents to it or its Affiliates, or (y) any other assets, businesses or interests of it or its Affiliates.
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(d) The parties anticipate that HSR will not apply to the issuance of Warrants, but may apply to the exercise of those Warrants, and at such time, if applicable

Walmart shall have the principal responsibility for devising and implementing the strategy (including with respect to the timing of filings) for obtaining any exemptions,
authorizations, consents or approvals required under the HSR Act or any other Antitrust Laws in connection with the transactions contemplated hereby and by the other
Transaction Documents; provided, however, that Walmart shall consult in advance with the Company and in good faith take the Company’s views into account regarding the
overall antitrust strategy. Each of the parties shall promptly notify the other party of, and if in writing furnish the other with copies of (or, in the case of oral communications,
advise the other of), any substantive communication that it or any of its Affiliates receives from any Governmental Entity, whether written or oral, relating to the matters that
are the subject of this Agreement or any of the other Transaction Documents and, to the extent reasonably practicable, permit the other party to review in advance any proposed
substantive written communication by such party to any Governmental Entity and consider in good faith the other party’s reasonable comments on any such proposed
substantive written communications prior to their submission. No party shall, and each party shall cause its Affiliates not to, participate or agree to participate in any substantive
meeting or communication with any Governmental Entity in respect of the subject matter of the Transaction Documents, including on a “no names” or hypothetical basis, unless
(to the extent legally permissible) it or they consult with the other party in advance and, to the extent practicable and permitted by such Governmental Entity, give the other
party the opportunity to jointly prepare for, attend and participate in such meeting or communication. The parties shall (and shall cause their Affiliates to) coordinate and
cooperate fully with each other in exchanging such information and providing such assistance as the other party may reasonably request in connection with the matters
described in this Section 3.1, including (x) furnishing to each other all information reasonably requested to determine the jurisdictions in which a filing or submission under any
Antitrust Law is required or advisable, (y) furnishing to each other all information required for any filing or submission under any Antitrust Law and (z) keeping each other
reasonably informed with respect to the status of each exemption, authorization, consent, approval, filing and notice under any Antitrust Law, in each case, in connection with
the matters that are the subject of this Agreement or any of the other Transaction Documents. The parties shall to the extent legally permissible provide each other with copies of
all substantive correspondence, filings or communications between them or any of their Affiliates or Representatives, on the one hand, and any Governmental Entity or
members of its staff, on the other hand, relating to the matters that are the subject of this Agreement or any of the other Transaction Documents; provided that such material may
be redacted as necessary to (1) comply with contractual arrangements, (2) address good faith legal privilege or confidentiality concerns and (3) comply with Applicable Law.
 

(e) Subject to the other provisions of this Agreement, including in this Section , in the event that any arbitral, administrative, judicial or analogous action,
claim or proceeding is instituted (or threatened to be instituted) by a Governmental Entity or any other party challenging the transactions contemplated hereby or by any of the
other Transaction Documents (“Transaction Litigation”), neither party shall be required to contest and resist any such Transaction Litigation or to seek to have vacated, lifted,
reversed or overturned any judgment, ruling, order, writ, injunction or decree, whether temporary, preliminary or permanent, that is in effect and that prohibits, prevents or
restricts consummation or implementation of the transactions contemplated hereby or by any of the other Transaction Documents. Each party shall keep the other party
reasonably informed with respect to any Transaction Litigation unless doing so would reasonably be likely to jeopardize any privilege of such party regarding any such
Transaction Litigation (subject to such party using commercially reasonable efforts to, and cooperating in good faith with the other party in, developing and implementing
reasonable alternative arrangements to provide such other party with such information). Subject to the immediately preceding sentence, each party shall promptly advise the
other party orally and in writing in connection with, and shall consult with each other with respect to, any Transaction Litigation and shall in good faith give consideration to
each other’s advice with respect to such Transaction Litigation.

 
(f)   As promptly as practicable following the date hereof, the Company shall adopt such amendments and take such further actions and do or cause to be

done all things necessary, proper or advisable under Applicable Law, to prevent the execution and delivery of the Transaction Documents and the consummation of the
transactions contemplated thereby from constituting a “change in control,” “change of control” or other similar term under any Company Benefit Plan.

 
(g) Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, from and after the earlier of (i) the exercise of the Warrant in full and (ii) the expiration, termination or

cancellation of the Warrant without the Warrant having been exercised in full, no party shall have any further obligations under this Section 3.1; provided, that this Section
3.1(g) shall in no way relieve any party with respect to any breach by such party of this Section 3.1 prior to such time.
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3.2 Stockholder Approval.
 

(a) To the extent required, as promptly as reasonably practicable following the date of this Agreement, and in any event no later than the Company’s 2023
annual meeting of the stockholders of the Company (the “Company Stockholders”), the Company shall convene and hold a meeting of the Company Stockholders (the
“Company Stockholder Meeting”) to consider and vote on the issuance of the Warrant in respect of any Warrant Shares in excess of 53,852,492 shares, pursuant to the
applicable rules of the NASDAQ Global Select Market, including but not limited to, NASDAQ Rule 5635(d), for the avoidance of doubt, without giving effect to any “cashless”
or “net” exercise provisions therein (the “Requisite Stockholder Approval”); provided that the parties acknowledge that such meeting may be postponed or adjourned in
accordance with the Company’s bylaws or as otherwise required by Applicable Law if (x) there is an insufficient number of shares of Common Stock present or represented by
a proxy at the Company Stockholder Meeting to conduct business at the Company Stockholder Meeting, (y) the Company is required to postpone or adjourn the Company
Stockholder Meeting by Applicable Law or a request from the Commission or its staff, or (z) the Company determines in good faith that it is necessary or appropriate to
postpone or adjourn the Company Stockholder Meeting in order to give the Company Stockholders sufficient time to evaluate any information or disclosure that the Company
has sent or otherwise made available to them. If, despite the Company’s reasonable best efforts the Requisite Stockholder Approval is not obtained at or prior to the Company
Stockholder Meeting, the Company shall seek to obtain such Requisite Stockholder Approval at a meeting of the stockholders of the Company at least once each calendar year
and within 13 months of the previous meeting of the stockholders of the Company at which the Requisite Stockholder Approval was sought until such Requisite Stockholder
Approval is obtained or the Warrant is no longer outstanding.

 
(b) The Company shall use its reasonable best efforts to obtain the Requisite Stockholder Approval. Without limiting the foregoing, the Board shall (x)

recommend that the Company Stockholders vote in favor of the Requisite Stockholder Approval (the “Company Board Recommendation”) (and not withdraw or modify in any
adverse respect such Company Board Recommendation unless the Board determines in good faith (after consultation with outside legal counsel and financial advisors) that the



failure to take such action would be inconsistent with its fiduciary duties to the holders of Common Stock under Applicable Law, (y) solicit proxies in favor of the Requisite
Stockholder Approval in accordance with this Section 3.4(b), and (z) obtain commitments from each of the directors and executive officers of the Company to vote in favor of
the Requisite Stockholder Approval. In connection with the Company Stockholder Meeting, the Company shall promptly prepare (and Walmart shall reasonably cooperate with
the Company to prepare) and file with the Commission a preliminary proxy statement, shall use its commercially reasonable efforts to respond to any comments of the
Commission or its staff and to cause a definitive proxy statement related to such meeting to be mailed to the Company Stockholders as promptly as practicable after clearance
thereof by the Commission. The Company shall notify Walmart promptly of the receipt of any comments from the Commission or its staff with respect to the proxy statement
and of any request by the Commission or its staff for amendments or supplements to such proxy statement or for additional information and shall supply Walmart with copies of
all correspondence between the Company or any of its Representatives, on the one hand, and the Commission or its staff, on the other hand, with respect to such proxy
statement. If at any time prior to the Company Stockholder Meeting there shall occur any event that is required to be set forth in an amendment or supplement to the proxy
statement, the Company shall as promptly as reasonably practicable prepare and mail to the Company Stockholders such an amendment or supplement. Each of the parties shall
promptly correct any information provided by it or on its behalf for use in the proxy statement if and to the extent that such information shall have become false or misleading in
any material respect, and the Company shall as promptly as reasonably practicable prepare and furnish to the Company Stockholders an amendment or supplement to correct
such information to the extent required by Applicable Laws. The Company shall consult with Walmart prior to filing any proxy statement, or any amendment or supplement
thereto, or responding to any comments from the Commission or its staff with respect thereto, and provide Walmart with a reasonable opportunity to comment thereon, and
consider in good faith any comments proposed by Walmart.
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(c) Walmart shall furnish the Company all information reasonably requested by the Company concerning itself, its Affiliates, directors, officers, stockholders

and such other matters as may be reasonably necessary or advisable in connection with the proxy statement in connection with the Company Stockholder Meeting.
 

ARTICLE IV

ADDITIONAL AGREEMENTS
 

4.1 Acquisition for Investment. Walmart acknowledges that the issuance of the Warrant and the Warrant Shares has not been registered under the Securities Act or
under any state securities laws. Walmart (i) acknowledges that it is acquiring the Warrant and the Warrant Shares pursuant to an exemption from registration under the
Securities Act solely for its own account for investment with no present intention to distribute them to any person in violation of the Securities Act or any other applicable state
securities laws and that the Company is relying in part upon the truth and accuracy of, and Walmart’s compliance with, the representations, warranties, agreements,
acknowledgments and understandings of Walmart set forth herein in order to determine the availability of such exemptions and the eligibility of Walmart to acquire the Warrant
and the Warrant Shares, (ii) agrees that it shall not (and shall not permit its Affiliates to) sell or otherwise dispose of the Warrant or the Warrant Shares, except in compliance
with the registration requirements or exemption provisions of the Securities Act and any applicable state securities laws, (iii) acknowledges that it has such knowledge and
experience in financial and business matters and in investments of this type that it is capable of evaluating the merits and risks of the Warrant Issuance and of making an
informed investment decision, and (iv)  acknowledges that it is an “accredited investor” (as that term is defined by Rule 501 under the Securities Act).

 
4.2 Legend. Walmart agrees that all certificates or other instruments representing the Warrant and the Warrant Shares shall bear any legend as required by the “blue

sky” laws of any state and a restrictive legend substantially to the following effect:
 
“THE SECURITIES REPRESENTED BY THIS INSTRUMENT HAVE NOT BEEN REGISTERED UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED, OR
THE SECURITIES LAWS OF ANY STATE AND MAY NOT BE TRANSFERRED, SOLD OR OTHERWISE DISPOSED OF EXCEPT PURSUANT TO AN
EFFECTIVE REGISTRATION STATEMENT UNDER SUCH ACT AND APPLICABLE STATE SECURITIES LAWS OR PURSUANT TO AN EXEMPTION
FROM REGISTRATION UNDER SUCH ACT OR SUCH LAWS. HEDGING TRANSACTIONS INVOLVING THESE SECURITIES MAY NOT BE CONDUCTED
UNLESS IN COMPLIANCE WITH THE SECURITIES ACT.
 
THIS INSTRUMENT IS ISSUED PURSUANT TO AND SUBJECT TO THE RESTRICTIONS ON TRANSFER AND OTHER PROVISIONS OF A WARRANT
ISSUANCE AGREEMENT, DATED AS OF JULY 11, 2022, BY AND BETWEEN THE ISSUER OF THESE SECURITIES AND WALMART INC., A
DELAWARE CORPORATION, A COPY OF WHICH IS ON FILE WITH THE ISSUER. THE SECURITIES REPRESENTED BY THIS INSTRUMENT MAY NOT
BE SOLD OR OTHERWISE TRANSFERRED EXCEPT IN COMPLIANCE WITH SAID AGREEMENT. ANY SALE OR OTHER TRANSFER NOT IN
COMPLIANCE WITH SAID AGREEMENT WILL BE VOID.”
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In the event that any Warrant Shares become registered under the Securities Act or the Company is presented with an opinion of counsel reasonably satisfactory, in form and
substance, to the Company that the Warrant Shares are eligible to be transferred without restriction in accordance with Rule 144 under the Securities Act, the Company shall
issue new certificates or other instruments representing such Warrant Shares which shall not contain such portion of the above legend that is no longer applicable; provided that
the holder of such Warrant Shares surrenders to the Company the previously issued certificates or other instruments.
 

4.3 Anti-Takeover Provisions. The Company shall not take any action that would prevent Walmart from exercising any of its rights under this Agreement or any of the
other Transaction Documents, or any of the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby (a “Burdensome Action”), including by causing this Agreement or any of the other
Transaction Documents, or any of the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby, to be subject to any requirements imposed by any Anti-Takeover Provisions or subject in any
manner to any “poison pill” or similar shareholder rights plan, in each case the result of which would be to cause a Burdensome Action to occur, and shall take all necessary
steps within its control to exempt (or ensure the continued exemption of) the transactions contemplated by the Transaction Documents from any applicable Anti-Takeover
Provisions, as now or hereafter in effect.

 
ARTICLE V

GOVERNANCE
 

5.1 Information Rights.
 

(a) Until such time as Walmart shall cease to hold shares of Common Stock, or Warrants exercisable for shares of Common Stock, representing in the
aggregate at least five percent (5%) of the Common Stock on a fully diluted basis, the Company shall prepare and provide, or cause to be prepared and provided, to Walmart:

 
(i)    within thirty (30) days after the end of each fiscal quarter the number of outstanding shares of Common Stock at the end of such fiscal quarter calculated

on both an undiluted basis and a fully diluted basis without regard to exercise or conversion prices of derivative securities;
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(ii) within the time periods applicable to the Company under Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act, all interim and annual financial statements required to

be contained in a filing with the Commission on Forms 10-K and 10-Q; and
 
(iii) if the Company is at any time not subject to Section 13(a) or 15(d) under the Exchange Act, the information set forth on Schedule 5.1(a);
 

provided, however, that the requirements of this paragraph (a) shall be deemed to be satisfied to the extent such information is publicly filed on EDGAR within the time periods
specified above.
 

(b) Until such time as Walmart shall cease to hold shares of Common Stock, or Warrants exercisable for shares of Common Stock, representing in the
aggregate at least five percent (5%) of the Common Stock on a fully diluted basis, the Company shall consider and respond in good faith to reasonable requests for information,
to the extent already existing or that can be prepared without excessive cost or management time, regarding the Company and its subsidiaries from Walmart in its capacity as a
holder of the Warrant or the Common Stock. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the Company and its subsidiaries shall not be required to provide any such
information if (i) the Company determines that such information is competitively sensitive, (ii) the Company determines in good faith that providing such information would
adversely affect the Company (taking into account the nature of the request and the facts and circumstances at such time) other than to a de minimis extent or (iii) providing
such information (A) would reasonably be expected to jeopardize an attorney-client privilege or cause a loss of attorney work product protection, (B) would violate a
confidentiality obligation to any person in effect on the date of this Agreement or (C) would, based on the written advice of the Company’s outside legal counsel, violate any
Applicable Law; provided, that, with respect to clauses (i)-(iii), the Company uses reasonable efforts, and cooperates in good faith with Walmart, to develop and implement
reasonable alternative arrangements to provide Walmart (and its Representatives) with the intended benefits of this Section 5.1.

 
(c) In furtherance and not in limitation of the foregoing, during the term of this Agreement, the Company shall, and shall cause its subsidiaries to, use

commercially reasonable efforts to prepare and provide, or to cause to be prepared and provided, including, if requested and reasonably available, in electronic data format, to
Walmart, or to assist Walmart with preparing (at the expense of Walmart), in a reasonably timely fashion following a request by Walmart any (i) financial information or other
data relating to the Company and its subsidiaries and (ii) any other relevant information or data, in each case to the extent necessary, as reasonably determined in good faith by
Walmart for Walmart to (x) comply with GAAP or to comply with its reporting, filing, accounting or other financial obligations under Applicable Law or (y) apply the equity
method of accounting, in the event Walmart is required to account for its investment in the Company under the equity method of accounting under GAAP; provided, however,
that any requests with respect to tax matters shall be addressed by Section 5.2 and not by this Section 5.1.
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The Company shall use commercially reasonable efforts to cause its and its subsidiaries’ Representatives to cooperate in good faith with Walmart in connection with the
foregoing.
 

5.2 Tax Reporting Requirements(a). The Company will provide Walmart with any reasonably requested by Walmart and within the Company’s possession or that can
be provided with the use of reasonable efforts, to allow Walmart to comply with Applicable Law related to taxes or to avail itself of any provision of Applicable Law related to
taxes. Walmart will provide the Company with any information reasonably requested by the Company and within Walmart’s possession or that can be provided with the use of
reasonable efforts, to allow the Company to comply with Applicable Law related to taxes or to avail itself of any provision of Applicable Law related to taxes.

 
ARTICLE VI

 
REGISTRATION

 
6.1 Demand Registrations.
 

(a) Subject to the terms and conditions hereof, solely during any period that the Company is then ineligible under Applicable Law to register Registrable
Securities on a registration statement on Form S-3 or any successor form thereto (“Form S-3”), or if the Company is so eligible but has failed to comply with its obligations
under Section 6.3 any Demand Shareholders (“Requesting Shareholders”) shall be entitled to make no more than three (3) written requests of the Company (each, a “Demand”)
for registration under the Securities Act of an amount of Registrable Securities then held by such Requesting Shareholders that equals or is greater than the Registrable Amount
(a “Demand Registration” and such registration statement, a “Demand Registration Statement”); provided, however, that no Demand may be made by any Demand Shareholder
prior to the date that is one (1) year after the date of this Agreement. Thereupon, the Company shall, subject to the terms of this Agreement, file the registration statement no
later than 30 days after receipt of a Demand and shall use its commercially reasonable efforts to effect the registration as promptly as practicable under the Securities Act of:

 
(i)    the Registrable Securities which the Company has been so requested to register by the Requesting Shareholders for disposition in accordance with the

intended method of disposition stated in such Demand;
 
(ii) all other Registrable Securities which the Company has been requested to register pursuant to Section 6.1(b), but subject to Section 6.1(g); and
 
(iii) all shares of Common Stock which the Company may elect to register in connection with any offering of Registrable Securities pursuant to this Section 6.1,

but subject to Section 6.1(g);
 

all to the extent necessary to permit the disposition (in accordance with the intended methods thereof) of the Registrable Securities and the additional shares of Common Stock,
if any, to be so registered.
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(b) A Demand shall specify:  (i) the aggregate number of Registrable Securities requested to be registered in such Demand Registration, (ii) the intended

method of disposition in connection with such Demand Registration, to the extent then known, and (iii) the identity of the Requesting Shareholder(s). Within five (5) days after
receipt of a Demand, the Company shall give written notice of such Demand to all other holders of Registrable Securities. The Company shall include in the Demand
Registration covered by such Demand all Registrable Securities with respect to which the Company has received a written request for inclusion therein within five (5) days after
the Company’s notice required by this paragraph has been given, provided that if such five (5) day period ends on a day that is not a Business Day, such period shall be deemed
to end on the next succeeding Business Day. Each such written request shall comply with the requirements of a Demand as set forth in this Section 6.1(b).

 
(c) A Demand Registration shall not be deemed to have been effected (i) unless the Demand Registration Statement with respect thereto has become effective



and has remained effective for a period of at least one hundred five (105) days or such shorter period in which all Registrable Securities included in such Demand Registration
have actually been sold or otherwise disposed of thereunder (provided, that such period shall be extended for a period of time equal to the period the holders of Registrable
Securities refrain from selling any securities included in such registration statement at the request of the Company or the lead managing underwriter(s) pursuant to the
provisions of this Agreement) or (ii) if, after it has become effective, such Demand Registration becomes subject, prior to one hundred five (105) days after effectiveness, to any
stop order, injunction or other order or requirement of the Commission or other Governmental Entity, other than by reason of any act or omission by the applicable Selling
Shareholders.

 
(d) Demand Registrations shall be on such appropriate registration form of the Commission as shall be selected by the Company and reasonably acceptable to

the Requesting Shareholders.
 
(e) The Company shall not be obligated to (i) subject to Section 6.1(c), maintain the effectiveness of a registration statement under the Securities Act filed

pursuant to a Demand Registration for a period longer than one hundred five (105) days or (ii) effect any Demand Registration (A) within ninety (90) days of a “firm
commitment” Underwritten Offering in which all Demand Shareholders were offered “piggyback” rights pursuant to Section 6.2 (subject to Section 6.2(b)) and at least fifty
percent (50%) of the number of Registrable Securities requested by such Demand Shareholders to be included in such Demand Registration were included, (B) within ninety
(90) days of the completion of any other Demand Registration (including, for the avoidance of doubt, any Underwritten Offering pursuant to any Shelf Registration Statement),
(C) within ninety (90) days of the completion of any other Underwritten Offering by the Company or any shorter period during which the Company has agreed not to effect a
registration or public offering of securities (in each case only to the extent that the Company has undertaken contractually to the underwriters of such Underwritten Offering not
to effect any registration or public offering of securities), (D) if, in the Company’s reasonable judgment, it is not feasible for the Company to proceed with the Demand
Registration because of the unavailability of audited or other required financial statements of the Company or any other Person; provided, that the Company shall use its
commercially reasonable efforts to obtain such financial statements as promptly as practicable.
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(f)   The Company shall be entitled to (i) postpone (upon written notice to the Demand Shareholders) the filing or the effectiveness of a registration statement

for any Demand Registration, (ii) cause any Demand Registration Statement to be withdrawn and its effectiveness terminated and (iii) suspend the use of the prospectus forming
the part of any registration statement, in each case in the event of a Blackout Period until the expiration of the applicable Blackout Period. In the event of a Blackout Period
under clause (ii) of the definition thereof, the Company shall deliver to the Demand Shareholders requesting registration a certificate signed by either the chief executive officer
or the chief financial officer of the Company certifying that, in the good faith judgment of the Company, the conditions described in clause (ii) of the definition of Blackout
Period are met. Such certificate shall contain an approximation of the anticipated delay. Upon notice by the Company to the Demand Shareholders of any such determination,
each Demand Shareholder covenants that, subject to Applicable Law, it shall keep the fact of any such notice strictly confidential, and, in the case of a Blackout Period pursuant
to clause (ii)(y) of the definition of Blackout Period, promptly halt any offer, sale, trading or other Transfer by it or any of its Affiliates of any Registrable Securities for the
duration of the Blackout Period set forth in such notice (or until such Blackout Period shall be earlier terminated in writing by the Company) and promptly halt any use,
publication, dissemination or distribution of the Demand Registration Statement, each prospectus included therein, and any amendment or supplement thereto by it and any of
its Affiliates for the duration of the Blackout Period set forth in such notice (or until such Blackout Period shall be earlier terminated in writing by the Company) and, if so
directed in writing by the Company, will deliver to the Company any copies then in the Demand Shareholder’s possession of the prospectus covering such Registrable Securities
that was in effect at the time of receipt of such notice.

 
(g) If, in connection with a Demand Registration that involves an Underwritten Offering, the lead managing underwriter(s) advise(s) the Company that, in its

(their) good faith opinion, the inclusion of all of the securities sought to be registered in connection with such Demand Registration would adversely affect the success thereof,
then the Company shall include in such registration statement only such securities as the Company is advised by such lead managing underwriter(s) can be sold without such
adverse effect as follows and in the following order of priority:  (i) first, up to the number of Registrable Securities requested to be included in such Demand Registration by the
Demand Shareholders, which, in the opinion of the lead managing underwriter(s), can be sold without adversely affecting the success thereof, pro rata among such Demand
Shareholders on the basis of the number of such Registrable Securities requested to be included by such Demand Shareholders; (ii) second, securities the Company proposes to
sell; and (iii) third, all other securities of the Company duly requested to be included in such registration statement, pro rata on the basis of the amount of such other securities
requested to be included or such other allocation method determined by the Company.

 
(h) Any time that a Demand Registration involves an Underwritten Offering, the Requesting Shareholder(s) shall select the investment banker(s) and

manager(s) that will serve as managing underwriters (including which such managing underwriters will serve as lead or co-lead) and underwriters with respect to the offering of
such Registrable Securities; provided, that such investment banker(s) and manager(s) shall be reasonably acceptable to the Company (such acceptance not to be unreasonably
withheld, conditioned or delayed).

 

-14-

 

 
6.2 Piggyback Registrations.
 

(a) Subject to the terms and conditions hereof, from and after the date that is one hundred eighty (180) days after the date of this Agreement, whenever the
Company proposes to register any Common Stock (or any other securities that are of the same class or series as any Registrable Securities that are not shares of Common Stock)
under the Securities Act (other than a registration by the Company (i) on Form S-4 or any successor form thereto, (ii) on Form S-8 or any successor form thereto, (iii) pursuant
to Section 6.3, or (iv) pursuant to Section 6.1) (a “Piggyback Registration”), whether for its own account or for the account of others, the Company shall give all Demand
Shareholders prompt written notice thereof (but not less than ten (10) Business Days prior to the filing by the Company with the Commission of any registration statement with
respect thereto). Such notice (a “Piggyback Notice”) shall specify the number of shares of Common Stock (or other securities, as applicable) proposed to be registered, the
proposed date of filing of such registration statement with the Commission, the proposed means of distribution and the proposed managing underwriter(s) (if any) and a good
faith estimate by the Company of the proposed minimum offering price of such shares of Common Stock (or other securities, as applicable), in each case to the extent then
known. Subject to Section 6.2(b), the Company shall include in each such Piggyback Registration all Registrable Securities held by Demand Shareholders (a “Piggyback
Seller”) with respect to which the Company has received written requests (which written requests shall specify the number of Registrable Securities requested to be disposed of
by such Piggyback Seller) for inclusion therein within ten (10) business days after such Piggyback Notice is received by such Piggyback Seller.

 
(b) If, in connection with a Piggyback Registration that involves an Underwritten Offering, the lead managing underwriter(s) advise(s) the Company that, in

its opinion, the inclusion of all the securities sought to be included in such Piggyback Registration by (w) the Company, (x) other Persons who have sought to have shares of
Common Stock registered in such Piggyback Registration pursuant to rights to demand (other than pursuant to so-called “piggyback” or other incidental or participation
registration rights) such registration (such Persons being “Other Demanding Sellers”), (y) the Piggyback Sellers and (z) any other proposed sellers of shares of Common Stock
(such Persons being “Other Proposed Sellers”), as the case may be, would materially and adversely affect the success thereof, then the Company shall include in the registration
statement applicable to such Piggyback Registration only such securities as the Company is so advised by such lead managing underwriter(s) can be sold without such an effect,
as follows and in the following order of priority:

 
(i)    if the Piggyback Registration relates to an offering for the Company’s own account, then (A) first, such number of shares of Common Stock (or other

securities, as applicable) to be sold by the Company as the Company, in its reasonable judgment, shall have determined, (B) second, Registrable Securities of Piggyback



Sellers, pro rata on the basis of the number of Registrable Securities proposed to be sold by such Piggyback Sellers, (C) third, shares of Common Stock sought to be
registered by Other Demanding Sellers, pro rata on the basis of the number of shares of Common Stock proposed to be sold by such Other Demanding Sellers and
(D) fourth, other shares of Common Stock proposed to be sold by any Other Proposed Sellers; or
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(ii) if the Piggyback Registration relates to an offering other than for the Company’s own account, then (A) first, such number of shares of Common Stock (or

other securities, as applicable) sought to be registered by each Other Demanding Seller pro rata in proportion to the number of securities sought to be registered by all
such Other Demanding Sellers, (B) second, Registrable Securities of Piggyback Sellers, pro rata on the basis of the number of Registrable Securities proposed to be sold
by such Piggyback Sellers, (C) third, shares of Common Stock to be sold by the Company and (D) fourth, other shares of Common Stock proposed to be sold by any
Other Proposed Sellers.

 
(c) For clarity, in connection with any Underwritten Offering under this Section 6.2 for the Company’s account, the Company shall not be required to include

the Registrable Securities of a Piggyback Seller in the Underwritten Offering unless such Piggyback Seller accepts the terms of the underwriting as agreed upon between the
Company and the lead managing underwriter(s), which shall be selected by the Company.

 
(d) If, at any time after giving written notice of its intention to register any shares of Common Stock (or other securities, as applicable) as set forth in this

Section 6.2 and prior to the time the registration statement filed in connection with such Piggyback Registration is declared effective, the Company shall determine for any
reason not to register such shares of Common Stock (or other securities, as applicable), the Company may, at its election, give written notice of such determination to the
Piggyback Sellers within five (5) Business Days thereof and thereupon shall be relieved of its obligation to register any Registrable Securities in connection with such particular
withdrawn or abandoned Piggyback Registration; provided, that, if permitted pursuant to Section 6.1, the Demand Shareholders may continue the registration as a Demand
Registration pursuant to the terms of Section 6.1.

 
6.3 Shelf Registration Statement.
 

(a) Subject to the terms and conditions hereof, and further subject to the availability of Form S-3 to the Company, any of the Demand Shareholders may by
written notice delivered to the Company (the “Shelf Notice”) require the Company to file as soon as reasonably practicable, and to use commercially reasonable efforts to cause
to be declared effective by the Commission as soon as reasonably practicable after such filing date, a Form S-3, providing for an offering to be made on a continuous basis
pursuant to Rule 415 under the Securities Act relating to the offer and sale, from time to time, of an amount of Registrable Securities then held by such Demand Shareholders
that equals or is greater than the Registrable Amount (the “Shelf Registration Statement”). To the extent the Company is a well-known seasoned issuer (as defined in Rule 405
under the Securities Act), the Company shall file the Shelf Registration Statement in the form of an automatic shelf registration statement (as defined in Rule 405 under the
Securities Act) or any successor form thereto. If registering a number of Registrable Securities, the Company shall pay the registration fee for all Registrable Securities to be
registered pursuant to an automatic shelf registration statement at the time of filing of the automatic shelf registration statement and shall not elect to pay any portion of the
registration fee on a deferred basis. The Company may also amend an existing registration statement on Form S-3, including by post-effective amendment, in order to fulfill its
obligations hereunder.
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(b) Within five business (5) days after receipt of a Shelf Notice pursuant to Section 6.3(a), the Company will deliver written notice thereof to all other holders

of Registrable Securities. Each other holder of Registrable Securities may elect to participate with respect to its Registrable Securities in the Shelf Registration Statement in
accordance with the plan and method of distribution set forth, or to be set forth, in such Shelf Registration Statement by delivering to the Company a written request to so
participate within five (5) days after the Shelf Notice is received by any such holder of Registrable Securities.

 
(c) Subject to Section 6.3(d), the Company shall use its commercially reasonable efforts to keep the Shelf Registration Statement continuously effective until

the date on which all Registrable Securities covered by the Shelf Registration Statement have been sold thereunder in accordance with the plan and method of distribution
disclosed in the prospectus included in the Shelf Registration Statement, or otherwise cease to be Registrable Securities.

 
(d) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Agreement, the Company shall be entitled, from time to time, by providing written notice to the

holders of Registrable Securities who elected to participate in the Shelf Registration Statement, to require such holders of Registrable Securities to suspend the use of the
prospectus for sales of Registrable Securities under the Shelf Registration Statement during any Blackout Period. In the event of a Blackout Period under clause (ii) of the
definition thereof, the Company shall deliver to the Demand Shareholders requesting registration a certificate signed by either the chief executive officer or the chief financial
officer of the Company certifying that, in the good faith judgment of the Company, the conditions described in clause (ii) of the definition of Blackout Period are met. Such
certificate shall contain an approximation of the anticipated delay. Upon notice by the Company to the Demand Shareholders of any such determination, each Demand
Shareholder covenants that it shall, subject to Applicable Law, keep the fact of any such notice strictly confidential, and, in the case of a Blackout Period pursuant to clause (ii)
(y) of the definition of Blackout Period, promptly halt any offer, sale, trading or other Transfer by it or any of its Affiliates of any Registrable Securities for the duration of the
Blackout Period set forth in such notice (or until such Blackout Period shall be earlier terminated in writing by the Company) and promptly halt any use, publication,
dissemination or distribution of the Shelf Registration Statement, each prospectus included therein, and any amendment or supplement thereto by it and any of its Affiliates for
the duration of the Blackout Period set forth in such notice (or until such Blackout Period shall be earlier terminated in writing by the Company) and, if so directed in writing by
the Company, will deliver to the Company any copies then in the Demand Shareholder’s possession of the prospectus covering such Registrable Securities that was in effect at
the time of receipt of such notice.

 
(e) After the expiration of any Blackout Period and without any further request from a holder of Registrable Securities, the Company, to the extent necessary,

shall as promptly as reasonably practicable prepare a post-effective amendment or supplement to the Shelf Registration Statement or the prospectus, or any document
incorporated therein by reference, or file any other required document so that, as thereafter delivered to purchasers of the Registrable Securities included therein, the prospectus
will not include an untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state any material fact necessary to make the statements therein, in the light of the circumstances under which
they were made, not misleading.
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(f)   At any time that a Shelf Registration Statement is effective, if any Demand Shareholder delivers a notice to the Company (a “Take-Down Notice”) stating

that it intends to sell all of part of its Registrable Securities included by it on the Shelf Registration Statement (a “Shelf Offering”), then the Company shall amend or supplement
the Shelf Registration Statement as may be necessary in order to enable such Registrable Securities to be distributed pursuant to the Shelf Offering (taking into account, solely
in connection with a Marketed Underwritten Shelf Offering, the inclusion of Registrable Securities by any other holders pursuant to this Section 6.3). In connection with any



Shelf Offering that is an Underwritten Offering and where the plan of distribution set forth in the applicable Take-Down Notice includes a customary “road show” (including
an “electronic road show”) or other substantial marketing effort by the Company and the underwriters (a “Marketed Underwritten Shelf Offering”):

 
(i)    such proposing Demand Shareholder(s) shall also deliver the Take-Down Notice to all other Demand Shareholders included on the Shelf Registration

Statement and permit each such holder to include its Registrable Securities included on the Shelf Registration Statement in the Marketed Underwritten Shelf Offering if
such holder notifies the proposing Demand Shareholder(s) and the Company within two (2) Business Days after delivery of the Take-Down Notice to such holder; and

 
(ii) if the lead managing underwriter(s) advises the Company and the proposing Demand Shareholder(s) that, in its opinion, the inclusion of all of the securities

sought to be sold in connection with such Marketed Underwritten Shelf Offering would materially and adversely affect the success thereof, then there shall be included
in such Marketed Underwritten Shelf Offering only such securities as the proposing Demand Shareholder(s) is advised by such lead managing underwriter(s) can be sold
without such adverse effect, and such number of Registrable Securities shall be allocated in the same manner as described in Section 6.1(g). Except as otherwise
expressly specified in this Section 6.3, any Marketed Underwritten Shelf Offering shall be subject to the same requirements, limitations and other provisions of this
Article VI as would be applicable to a Demand Registration (i.e., as if such Marketed Underwritten Shelf Offering were a Demand Registration), including Section
6.1(e)(ii) and Section 6.1(g).

 
(g) Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, if the requesting Demand Shareholder wishes to engage in a block sale (including a block sale off

of a Shelf Registration Statement or an effective automatic shelf registration statement, or in connection with the registration of the Registrable Securities under an automatic
shelf registration statement for purposes of effectuating a block sale), then notwithstanding the foregoing or any other provisions hereunder, no Demand Shareholder shall be
entitled to receive any notice of or have its Registrable Securities included in such block sale.

 
(h) Any time that a Shelf Offering involves a Marketed Underwritten Shelf Offering, the Requesting Shareholder(s) shall select the investment banker(s) and

manager(s) that will serve as managing underwriters (including which such managing underwriters will serve as lead or co-lead) and underwriters with respect to the offering of
such Registrable Securities; provided, that such investment banker(s) and manager(s) shall be reasonably acceptable to the Company (such acceptance not to be unreasonably
withheld, conditioned or delayed).
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6.4 Withdrawal Rights. Any holder of Registrable Securities having notified or directed the Company to include any or all of its Registrable Securities in a registration

statement under the Securities Act shall have the right to withdraw any such notice or direction with respect to any or all of the Registrable Securities designated by it for
registration by giving written notice, of not less than 2 business days, to such effect to the Company prior to the effective date of such registration statement. In the event of any
such withdrawal, the Company shall not include such Registrable Securities in the applicable registration and such Registrable Securities shall continue to be Registrable
Securities for all purposes of this Agreement (subject to the other terms and conditions of this Agreement). No such withdrawal shall affect the obligations of the Company with
respect to the Registrable Securities not so withdrawn; provided, however, that in the case of a Demand Registration, if such withdrawal shall reduce the number of Registrable
Securities sought to be included in such registration below the Registrable Amount, then the Company shall as promptly as practicable give each Demand Shareholder seeking
to register Registrable Securities notice to such effect and, within five (5) days following the mailing of such notice, such Demand Shareholder still seeking registration shall, by
written notice to the Company, elect to register additional Registrable Securities to satisfy the Registrable Amount or elect that such registration statement not be filed or, if
theretofore filed, be withdrawn. During such five (5) day period, the Company shall not file such registration statement if not theretofore filed or, if such registration statement
has been theretofore filed, the Company shall not seek, and shall use commercially reasonable efforts to prevent, the effectiveness thereof.

 
6.5 Hedging Transactions
 

(a) The provisions of this Agreement relating to the registration, offer and sale of Registrable Securities shall apply also to (i) any transaction which Transfers
some or all of the economic risk of ownership of Registrable Securities, including any forward contract, equity swap, put or call, put or call equivalent position, collar, margin
loan, sale of exchangeable security or similar transaction (including the registration, offer and sale under the Securities Act of Registrable Securities pledged to the counterparty
to such transaction or of securities of the same class as the underlying Registrable Securities by the counterparty to such transaction in connection therewith), and that the
counterparty to such transaction shall be selected in the sole discretion of the Demand Shareholders and (ii) any derivative transactions in which a broker-dealer, other financial
institution or unaffiliated Person (each, a “Hedging Counterparty”) may sell Registrable Securities covered by any prospectus and the applicable prospectus supplement
including short sale transactions using Registrable Securities pledged by a Demand Shareholder or borrowed from the Demand Shareholder or others and Registrable Securities
loaned, pledged or hypothecated to any such party (each, a “Hedging Transaction”); provided that the Demand Shareholder’s legal counsel has determined in its reasonable
judgment (after good-faith consultation with counsel of the Company) that it is reasonably necessary to register under the Securities Act such Hedging Transaction. Any written
information regarding the Hedging Transaction provided to the Company by a Hedging Counterparty for inclusion in any registration statement, prospectus or free writing
prospectus filed pursuant to this Section 6.5 shall, for purposes of Section 6.9, be deemed to be written information provided by a Selling Shareholder for purposes of Section
6.9.

 
(b) If in connection with a Hedging Transaction, a Hedging Counterparty or any Affiliate thereof is (or may reasonably be considered) an underwriter or

selling stockholder, then such Hedging Counterparty shall be required to provide customary indemnities to the Company regarding the plan of distribution and related matters.
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6.6 Holdback Agreements.
 

(a) Walmart shall enter into customary agreements restricting the sale or distribution of Equity Securities of the Company (including sales pursuant to Rule
144 under the Securities Act) to the extent required by the lead managing underwriter(s) with respect to an applicable Underwritten Offering in which Walmart participates
during the period commencing on the date of the request (which shall be no earlier than fourteen (14) days prior to the expected “pricing” of such Underwritten Offering) and
continuing for not more than ninety (90) days after the date of the “final” prospectus (or “final” prospectus supplement if the Underwritten Offering is made pursuant to a Shelf
Registration Statement), pursuant to which such Underwritten Offering shall be made. The Company shall not include Registrable Securities of any other Demand Shareholder
in such an Underwritten Offering unless such other Demand Shareholder enters into a customary agreement restricting the sale or distribution of Equity Securities of the
Company (including sales pursuant to Rule 144 under the Securities Act) if requested by the lead managing underwriter(s).

 
(b) If any Demand Registration or Shelf Offering involves an Underwritten Offering, the Company will not affect any sale or distribution of shares of

Common Stock (or securities convertible into or exchangeable or exercisable for shares of Common Stock) (other than a registration statement on Form S-4, Form S-8 or any
successor forms thereto) for its own account, within sixty (60) days (plus an extension period as may be proposed by the lead managing underwriter(s) for such Underwritten
Offering to address FINRA regulations regarding the publication of research, or such shorter periods as the lead managing underwriter(s) may agree with the Company), after
the effective date of such registration except as may otherwise be agreed between the Company and the lead managing underwriter(s) of such Underwritten Offering.

 
6.7 Registration Procedures.



 
(a) If and whenever the Company is required to use commercially reasonable efforts to effect the registration of any Registrable Securities under the

Securities Act as provided in Section 6.1, Section 6.2 or Section 6.3, the Company shall as expeditiously as reasonably practicable:
 
(i) prepare and file with the Commission a registration statement to effect such registration in accordance with the intended method or methods of distribution of

such securities and thereafter use commercially reasonable efforts to cause such registration statement to become and remain effective pursuant to the terms of this
Article VI; provided, however, that the Company may discontinue any registration of its securities which are not Registrable Securities at any time prior to the effective
date of the registration statement relating thereto; provided, further, that before filing such registration statement or any amendments thereto, the Company will furnish to
the Demand Shareholders which are including Registrable Securities in such registration (“Selling Shareholders”), their counsel and the lead managing underwriter(s), if
any, copies of all such documents proposed to be filed, which documents will be subject to the review and reasonable comment of such counsel, and other documents
reasonably requested by such counsel, including any comment letter from the Commission, and, if requested by such counsel, provide such counsel reasonable
opportunity to participate in the preparation of such registration statement and each prospectus included therein and such other opportunities to conduct a reasonable
investigation within the meaning of the Securities Act, including reasonable access to the Company’s books and records, officers, accountants and other advisors. The
Company shall not file any such registration statement or prospectus or any amendments or supplements thereto with respect to a Demand Registration to which the
holders of a majority of Registrable Securities held by the Requesting Shareholder(s), their counsel or the lead managing underwriter(s), if any, shall reasonably object,
in writing, on a timely basis, unless, in the opinion of the Company, such filing is necessary to comply with Applicable Law;
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(ii) except in the case of a Shelf Registration Statement, prepare and file with the Commission such amendments, including post-effective amendments, and

supplements to such registration statement and the prospectus used in connection therewith as may be necessary to keep such registration statement effective pursuant to
the terms of this Article VI, and comply in all material respects with the provisions of the Securities Act with respect to the disposition of all securities covered by such
registration statement;

 
(iii) in the case of a Shelf Registration Statement, prepare and file with the Commission such amendments, including post-effective amendments, and

supplements to such Shelf Registration Statement and the prospectus used in connection therewith as may be necessary to keep such Shelf Registration Statement
effective and to comply in all material respects with the provision of the Securities Act with respect to the disposition of the Registrable Securities subject thereto for a
period ending on the date on which all the Registrable Securities held by the Demand Shareholders cease to be Registrable Securities;

 
(iv) if requested by the lead managing underwriter(s), if any, or the holders of a majority of the then outstanding Registrable Securities being sold in connection

with an Underwritten Offering, promptly include in a prospectus supplement or post-effective amendment such information as the lead managing underwriter(s), if any,
and such holders may reasonably request in order to permit the intended method of distribution of such securities and make all required filings of such prospectus
supplement or such post-effective amendment as soon as reasonably practicable after the Company has received such request; provided, however, that the Company shall
not be required to take any actions under this Section 6.7(a)(iv) that are not, in the opinion of counsel for the Company, in compliance with Applicable Law;

 
(v) furnish to the Selling Shareholders and each underwriter, if any, of the securities being sold by such Selling Shareholders such number of conformed copies

of such registration statement and of each amendment and supplement thereto, such number of copies of the prospectus contained in such registration statement
(including each preliminary prospectus and any summary prospectus) and each free writing prospectus (as defined in Rule 405 of the Securities Act) (a “Free Writing
Prospectus”) utilized in connection therewith and any other prospectus filed under Rule 424 under the Securities Act, in conformity with the requirements of the
Securities Act, and such other documents as such Selling Shareholders and underwriter, if any, may reasonably request in order to facilitate the public sale or other
disposition of the Registrable Securities owned by such Selling Shareholders;
 

(vi) use commercially reasonable efforts to register or qualify or cooperate with the Selling Shareholders, the underwriters, if any, and their respective counsel
in connection with the registration or qualification (or exemption from such registration or qualification) of such Registrable Securities covered by such registration
statement under such other securities laws or “blue sky” laws of such jurisdictions as the Selling Shareholders and any underwriter of the securities being sold by such
Selling Shareholders shall reasonably request, and to keep each such registration or qualification (or exemption therefrom) effective during the period such registration
statement is required to be kept effective and take any other action which may be necessary or reasonably advisable to enable such Selling Shareholders and
underwriters to consummate the disposition in such jurisdictions of the Registrable Securities owned by such Selling Shareholders, except that the Company shall not for
any such purpose be required to (A) qualify generally to do business as a foreign corporation in any jurisdiction wherein it would not but for the requirements of this
clause (vi) be obligated to be so qualified, (B) subject itself to taxation in any such jurisdiction or (C) file a general consent to service of process in any such jurisdiction;
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(vii) use commercially reasonable efforts to cause such Registrable Securities (if such Registrable Securities are shares of Common Stock) to be listed on each

securities exchange on which shares of Common Stock are then listed;
 
(viii) use commercially reasonable efforts to provide and cause to be maintained a transfer agent and registrar for all Registrable Securities covered by such

registration statement from and after a date not later than the effective date of such registration statement;
 
(ix) enter into such agreements (including an underwriting agreement) in form, scope and substance as is customary in underwritten offerings of shares of

Common Stock by the Company and use its commercially reasonable efforts to take all such other actions reasonably requested by the holders of a majority of the
Registrable Securities being sold in connection therewith (including those reasonably requested by the lead managing underwriter(s), if any) to expedite or facilitate the
disposition of such Registrable Securities, and in such connection, whether or not an underwriting agreement is entered into and whether or not the registration is an
Underwritten Offering (A) make such representations and warranties to the holders of such Registrable Securities and the underwriters, if any, with respect to the
business of the Company and its subsidiaries, and the registration statement, prospectus and documents, if any, incorporated or deemed to be incorporated by reference
therein, in each case, in form, substance and scope as are customarily made by issuers in underwritten offerings, and, if true, confirm the same if and when requested,
(B) if any underwriting agreement has been entered into, the same shall contain customary indemnification provisions and procedures with respect to all parties to be
indemnified pursuant to Section 6.10, except as otherwise agreed by the holders of a majority of the Registrable Securities being sold and (C) deliver such documents
and certificates as reasonably requested by the holders of a majority of the Registrable Securities being sold, their counsel and the lead managing underwriter(s), if any,
to evidence the continued validity of the representations and warranties made pursuant to sub-clause (A) above and to evidence compliance with any customary
conditions contained in the underwriting agreement or other agreement entered into by the Company. The above shall be done at each closing under such underwriting or
similar agreement, or as and to the extent required thereunder;
 

(x) in connection with an Underwritten Offering, use commercially reasonable efforts to obtain for the underwriter(s) (A) opinions of counsel for the Company,
covering the matters customarily covered in opinions requested in underwritten offerings and such other matters as may be reasonably requested by such underwriters
and (B) ”comfort” letters and updates thereof (or, in the case of any such Person which does not satisfy the conditions for receipt of a “comfort” letter specified in
Statement on Auditing Standards No. 72, an “agreed upon procedures” letter) signed by the independent public accountants who have certified the Company’s financial



statements included in such registration statement, covering the matters customarily covered in “comfort” letters in connection with underwritten offerings;
 

-22-

 

 
(xi) make available for inspection by the Selling Shareholders, any underwriter participating in any disposition pursuant to any registration statement, and any

attorney, accountant or other agent or Representative retained in connection with such offering by such Selling Shareholders or underwriter (collectively, the
“Inspectors”), any public non material financial and other records, pertinent corporate documents and properties of the Company (collectively, the “Records”), as shall
be reasonably necessary, or as shall otherwise be reasonably requested, to enable them to exercise their due diligence responsibility, and cause the officers, directors and
employees of the Company and its subsidiaries to supply all information in each case reasonably requested by any such Representative, underwriter, attorney, agent or
accountant in connection with such registration statement; provided, however, that the Company shall not be required to provide any information under this Section
6.7(a)(xi) if (A) the Company believes, after consultation with counsel for the Company, that to do so would cause the Company to forfeit an attorney-client privilege
that was applicable to such information or (B) either (1) the Company has requested and been granted from the Commission confidential treatment of such information
contained in any filing with the Commission or documents provided supplementally or otherwise or (2) the Company reasonably determines in good faith that such
Records are confidential and so notifies the Inspectors in writing; unless prior to furnishing any such information with respect to clause (1) or (2) such Selling
Shareholder requesting such information enters into, and causes each of its Inspectors to enter into, a confidentiality agreement on terms and conditions reasonably
acceptable to the Company; provided, further, that each Selling Shareholder agrees that it will, upon learning that disclosure of such Records is sought in a court of
competent jurisdiction or by another Governmental Entity, give notice to the Company and allow the Company, at its expense, to undertake appropriate action seeking to
prevent disclosure of the Records deemed confidential;

 
(xii) as promptly as practicable notify in writing the Selling Shareholders and the underwriters, if any, of the following events:  (A) the filing of the registration

statement, any amendment thereto, the prospectus or any prospectus supplement related thereto or post-effective amendment to the registration statement or any Free
Writing Prospectus utilized in connection therewith, and, with respect to the registration statement or any post-effective amendment thereto, when the same has become
effective; (B) any request by the Commission or any other U.S. or state governmental authority for amendments or supplements to the registration statement or the
prospectus or for additional information; (C) the issuance by the Commission of any stop order suspending the effectiveness of the registration statement or the initiation
of any proceedings by any Person for that purpose; (D) the receipt by the Company of any notification with respect to the suspension of the qualification of any
Registrable Securities for sale under the securities or “blue sky” laws of any jurisdiction or the initiation or threat of any proceeding for such purpose; (E) if at any time
the representations and warranties of the Company contained in any mutual agreement (including any underwriting agreement) contemplated by Section 6.7(a)(ix) cease
to be true and correct in any material respect; and (F) upon the happening of any event that makes any statement made in such registration statement or related prospectus
or any document incorporated or deemed to be incorporated therein by reference untrue in any material respect or that requires the making of any changes in such
registration statement, prospectus or documents so that, in the case of the registration statement, it will not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state
any material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the statements therein not misleading, and that in the case of the prospectus, it will not contain any
untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state any material fact necessary in order to make the statements therein, in light of the circumstances under which they
were made, not misleading, and, at the request of any Selling Shareholder, promptly prepare and furnish to such Selling Shareholder a reasonable number of copies of a
supplement to or an amendment of such registration statement or prospectus as may be necessary so that, as thereafter delivered to the purchasers of such Registrable
Securities, such prospectus shall not include an untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the
statements therein, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading;
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(xiii) use commercially reasonable efforts to obtain the withdrawal of any order suspending the effectiveness of such registration statement, or the lifting of any

suspension of the qualification (or exemption from qualification) of any of the Registrable Securities for sale in any jurisdiction at the earliest reasonable practicable date,
except that, subject to the requirements of Section 6.7(a)(vi), the Company shall not for any such purpose be required to (A) qualify generally to do business as a foreign
corporation in any jurisdiction wherein it would not but for the requirements of this clause (xiii) be obligated to be so qualified, (B) subject itself to taxation in any such
jurisdiction or (C) file a general consent to service of process in any such jurisdiction;

 
(xiv) cooperate with the Selling Shareholders and the lead managing underwriter(s) to facilitate the timely preparation and delivery of certificates (which shall

not bear any restrictive legends unless required under Applicable Law) representing securities sold under any registration statement, and enable such securities to be in
such denominations and registered in such names as the lead managing underwriter(s) or such Selling Shareholders may request and keep available and make available
to the Company’s transfer agent prior to the effectiveness of such registration statement a supply of such certificates;
 

(xv) cooperate with each seller of Registrable Securities and each underwriter or agent participating in the disposition of such Registrable Securities and their
respective counsel in connection with any filings required to be made with FINRA;

 
(xvi) have appropriate officers of the Company prepare and make presentations at a reasonable number of “road shows” and before analysts and rating agencies,

as the case may be, and other information meetings reasonably organized by the underwriters, take other actions to obtain ratings for any Registrable Securities (if they
are eligible to be rated) and otherwise use its commercially reasonable efforts to cooperate as reasonably requested by the Selling Shareholders and the underwriters in
the offering, marketing or selling of the Registrable Securities; provided, however, that the scheduling of any such “road shows” and other meetings shall not unduly
interfere with the normal operations of the business of the Company; and

 
(xvii) take all other actions reasonably requested by Walmart or the lead managing underwriter(s) to effect the intent of this Agreement.
 
(b) The Company may require each Selling Shareholder and each underwriter, if any, to furnish the Company in writing such information regarding each

Selling Shareholder or underwriter and the distribution of such Registrable Securities as the Company may from time to time reasonably request in writing to complete or
amend the information required by such registration statement.

 
(c) Each Selling Shareholder agrees that upon receipt of any notice from the Company of the happening of any event of the kind described in clauses (B), (C),

(D), (E) and (F) of Section 6.7(a)(xii), such Selling Shareholder shall forthwith discontinue such Selling Shareholder’s disposition of Registrable Securities pursuant to the
applicable registration statement and prospectus relating thereto until such Selling Shareholder’s receipt of the copies of the supplemented or amended prospectus contemplated
by Section 6.7(a)(xii), or until it is advised in writing by the Company that the use of the applicable prospectus may be resumed, and has received copies of any additional or
supplemental filings that are incorporated or deemed to be incorporated by reference in such prospectus; provided, however, that the Company shall extend the time periods
under Section 6.1(c) with respect to the length of time that the effectiveness of a registration statement must be maintained by the amount of time the holder is required to
discontinue disposition of such securities.
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(d) With a view to making available to the holders of Registrable Securities the benefits of Rule 144 under the Securities Act and any other rule or regulation

of the Commission that may at any time permit a holder to sell securities of the Company to the public without registration, the Company shall:
 
(i) use commercially reasonable efforts to make and keep public information available, as those terms are understood and defined in Rule 144 under the

Securities Act;
 
(ii) use commercially reasonable efforts to file with the Commission in a timely manner all reports and other documents required of the Company under the

Exchange Act, at any time when the Company is subject to such reporting requirements; and
 
(iii) furnish to any holder of Registrable Securities, promptly upon request, a written statement by the Company as to its compliance with the reporting

requirements of Rule 144 under the Securities Act and of the Exchange Act, a copy of the most recent annual or quarterly report of the Company, and such other reports
and documents so filed or furnished by the Company with the Commission as such holder may reasonably request in connection with the sale of Registrable Securities
without registration (in each case to the extent not readily publicly available).

 
6.8 Registration Expenses. All fees and expenses incident to the Company’s performance of its obligations under this Article VI, including (a) all registration and filing

fees, including all fees and expenses of compliance with securities and “blue sky” laws (including the reasonable and documented fees and disbursements of counsel for the
underwriters in connection with “blue sky” qualifications of the Registrable Securities pursuant to Section 6.7(a)(vi)) and all fees and expenses associated with filings required to
be made with FINRA (including, if applicable, the fees and expenses of any “qualified independent underwriter” as such term is defined in FINRA Rule 5121, except in the
event that Requesting Shareholders select the underwriters) (b) all printing (including expenses of printing certificates for the Registrable Securities in a form eligible for deposit
with The Depository Trust Company and of printing prospectuses if the printing of prospectuses is requested by Walmart) and copying expenses, (c) all messenger, telephone
and delivery expenses, (d) all fees and expenses of the Company’s independent certified public accountants and counsel (including with respect to “comfort” letters and
opinions), (e) expenses of the Company incurred in connection with any “road show”, other than any expense paid or payable by the underwriters and (f) reasonable and
documented fees and disbursements of one counsel for all holders of Registrable Securities whose Registrable Securities are included in a registration statement, which counsel
shall be selected by, in the case of a Demand Registration, the Requesting Shareholders, in the case of a Shelf Offering, the Demand Shareholder(s) requesting such offering, or
in the case of any other registration, the holders of a majority of the Registrable Securities being sold in connection therewith, shall be borne solely by the Company whether or
not any registration statement is filed or becomes effective. In connection with the Company’s performance of its obligations under this Article VI, the Company will pay its
internal expenses (including all salaries and expenses of its officers and employees performing legal or accounting duties and the expense of any annual audit) and the expenses
and fees for listing the securities to be registered on the primary securities exchange or over-the-counter market on which similar securities issued by the Company are then
listed or traded. Each Selling Shareholder shall pay its portion of all underwriting discounts and commissions and transfer taxes, if any, relating to the sale of such Selling
Shareholder’s Registrable Securities pursuant to any registration.

 

-25-

 

 
6.9 Miscellaneous.
 

(a) Not less than five (5) Business Days before the expected filing date of each registration statement pursuant to this Agreement, the Company shall notify
each holder of Registrable Securities who has timely provided the requisite notice hereunder entitling such holder to register Registrable Securities in such registration statement
of the information, documents and instruments from such holder that the Company or any underwriter reasonably requests in connection with such registration statement,
including a questionnaire, custody agreement, power of attorney, lock-up letter and underwriting agreement (the “Requested Information”). If the Company has not received, on
or before the second Business Day before the expected filing date, the Requested Information from such holder, the Company may file the registration statement without
including Registrable Securities of such holder. The failure to so include in any registration statement the Registrable Securities of a holder of Registrable Securities (with regard
to that registration statement) shall not result in any liability on the part of the Company to such holder.

 
(b) The Company shall not grant to any Person any demand, piggyback or shelf registration rights the terms of which are senior to or conflict with the rights

granted to Walmart hereunder without the prior written consent of Walmart. If Walmart provides such consent, Walmart and the Company shall amend this Agreement to grant
Walmart any such senior demand, piggyback or shelf registration rights.

 
6.10 Registration Indemnification.
 

(a) The Company agrees, without limitation as to time, to indemnify and hold harmless, to the fullest extent permitted by law, each Selling Shareholder and
its Affiliates and their respective officers, directors, members, stockholders, employees, managers and partners and each Person who controls (within the meaning of Section 15
of the Securities Act and Section 20 of the Exchange Act) such Selling Shareholder or such other indemnified Person and the officers, directors, members, stockholders,
employees, managers and partners of each such controlling Person, each underwriter, if any, and each Person who controls (within the meaning of Section 15 of the Securities
Act and Section 20 of the Exchange Act) such underwriter, from and against all losses, claims, damages, liabilities, costs, expenses (including reasonable expenses of
investigation and reasonable attorneys’ fees and expenses), judgments, fines, penalties, charges and amounts paid in settlement (collectively, the “Losses”), as incurred, arising
out of, caused by, resulting from or relating to any untrue statement (or alleged untrue statement) of a material fact contained in any registration statement, prospectus or
preliminary prospectus or Free Writing Prospectus or any amendment or supplement thereto or any omission (or alleged omission) of a material fact required to be stated
therein or necessary to make the statements therein, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading and (without limitation of the preceding portions
of this Section 6.10(a)) will reimburse each such Selling Shareholder, each of its Affiliates, and each of their respective officers, directors, members, stockholders, employees,
managers and partners and each such Person who controls each such Selling Shareholder and the officers, directors, members, stockholders, employees, managers, partners,
accountants, attorneys and agents of each such controlling Person, each such underwriter and each such Person who controls any such underwriter, for any legal and any other
expenses reasonably incurred in connection with investigating and defending or settling any such claim, Loss, damage, liability or action, except insofar as the same are caused
by any information furnished in writing to the Company by any Selling Shareholder expressly for use therein.
 

(b) In connection with any registration statement in which a Selling Shareholder is participating, without limitation as to time, each such Selling Shareholder
shall, severally and not jointly, indemnify the Company, its directors, officers and employees, and each Person who controls (within the meaning of Section 15 of the Securities
Act and Section 20 of the Exchange Act) the Company, from and against all Losses, as incurred, arising out of, caused by, resulting from or relating to any untrue statement (or
alleged untrue statement) of material fact contained in the registration statement, prospectus or preliminary prospectus or Free Writing Prospectus or any amendment or
supplement thereto or any omission (or alleged omission) of a material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the statements therein, in light of the
circumstances under which they were made, not misleading, and (without limitation of the preceding portions of this Section 6.10(b)) will reimburse the Company, its directors,
officers and employees and each Person who controls the Company (within the meaning of Section 15 of the Securities Act and Section 20 of the Exchange Act) for any legal
and any other expenses reasonably incurred in connection with investigating and defending or settling any such claim, Loss, damage, liability or action, in each case solely to
the extent, but only to the extent, that such untrue statement or omission is made in such registration statement, prospectus or preliminary prospectus or Free Writing Prospectus
or any amendment or supplement thereto in reliance upon and in conformity with written information furnished to the Company by such Selling Shareholder for inclusion in
such registration statement, prospectus or preliminary prospectus or Free Writing Prospectus or any amendment or supplement thereto. Notwithstanding the foregoing, no
Selling Shareholder shall be liable under this Section 6.10(b) for amounts in excess of the gross proceeds (after deducting any underwriting discount or commission) received by
such holder in the offering giving rise to such liability.
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(c) Any Person entitled to indemnification hereunder shall give prompt written notice to the indemnifying party of any claim with respect to which it seeks

indemnification; provided, however, the failure to give such notice shall not release the indemnifying party from its obligation, except to the extent that the indemnifying party
has been actually and materially prejudiced by such failure to provide such notice on a timely basis.

 
(d) In any case in which any such action is brought against any indemnified party, and it notifies an indemnifying party of the commencement thereof, the

indemnifying party will be entitled to participate therein, and, to the extent that it may wish, to assume the defense thereof, with counsel reasonably satisfactory to such
indemnified party, and after notice from the indemnifying party to such indemnified party of its election so to assume the defense thereof and acknowledging the obligations of
the indemnifying party with respect to such proceeding, the indemnifying party will not (so long as it shall continue to have the right to defend, contest, litigate and settle the
matter in question in accordance with this paragraph) be liable to such indemnified party hereunder for any legal or other expense subsequently incurred by such indemnified
party in connection with the defense thereof other than reasonable costs of investigation, supervision and monitoring (unless (i) such indemnified party reasonably objects to
such assumption on the grounds that (A) there may be defenses available to it which are different from or in addition to the defenses available to such indemnifying party or
(B) such action involves, or is reasonably likely to have an effect beyond, the scope of matters that are subject to indemnification pursuant to this Section 6.10, or (ii) the
indemnifying party shall have failed within a reasonable period of time to assume such defense and the indemnified party is or would reasonably be expected to be materially
prejudiced by such delay, in either event the indemnified party shall be promptly reimbursed by the indemnifying party for the expenses incurred in connection with retaining
one separate legal counsel (for the avoidance of doubt, for all indemnified parties in connection therewith)). For the avoidance of doubt, notwithstanding any such assumption
by an indemnifying party, the indemnified party shall have the right to employ separate counsel in any such matter and participate in the defense thereof, but the fees and
expenses of such counsel shall be at the expense of such indemnified party except as provided in the previous sentence. An indemnifying party shall not be liable for any
settlement of an action or claim effected without its consent. No matter shall be settled by an indemnifying party without the consent of the indemnified party (which consent
shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed), unless such settlement (x) includes as an unconditional term thereof the giving by the claimant or plaintiff to such
indemnified party of a release from all liability in respect to such claim or litigation, (y) does not include any statement as to or any admission of fault, culpability or a failure to
act by or on behalf of any indemnified party and (z) is settled solely for cash for which the indemnified party would be entitled to indemnification hereunder.
 

(e) The indemnification provided for under this Agreement shall survive the Transfer of the Registrable Securities and the termination of this Agreement.
 
(f) If recovery is not available under the foregoing indemnification provisions for any reason or reasons other than as specified therein, any Person who

would otherwise be entitled to indemnification by the terms thereof shall nevertheless be entitled to contribution with respect to any Losses with respect to which such Person
would be entitled to such indemnification but for such reason or reasons, in such proportion as is appropriate to reflect the relative fault of the indemnifying party, on the one
hand, and such indemnified party, on the other hand, in connection with the actions, statements or omissions that resulted in such Losses as well as any other relevant equitable
considerations. The relative fault of the indemnifying party and of the indemnified party shall be determined by reference to, among other things, whether the untrue or alleged
untrue statement of a material fact or the omission to state a material fact relates to information supplied by the indemnifying party or by the indemnified party, the Persons’
relative knowledge and access to information concerning the matter with respect to which the claim was asserted, the opportunity to correct and prevent any statement or
omission, and other equitable considerations appropriate under the circumstances. It is hereby agreed that it would not necessarily be equitable if the amount of such
contribution were determined by pro rata or per capita allocation. No Person guilty of fraudulent misrepresentation (within the meaning of Section 11(f) of the Securities Act)
shall be entitled to contribution from any Person who was not found guilty of such fraudulent misrepresentation. Notwithstanding the foregoing, no Selling Shareholder shall be
required to make a contribution in excess of the amount received by such Selling Shareholder from its sale of Registrable Securities in connection with the offering that gave rise
to the contribution obligation.

 
6.11 Free Writing Prospectuses. Walmart shall not use any “free writing prospectus” (as defined in Rule 405 under the Securities Act) in connection with the sale of

Registrable Securities pursuant to this Article VI without the prior written consent of the Company (which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed).
Notwithstanding the foregoing, Walmart may use any free writing prospectus prepared and distributed by the Company.
 

6.12 Termination of Registration Rights. The rights granted pursuant to this Article VI shall terminate, as to any holder of Registrable Securities on the date the
Company is acquired in a transaction approved by the Company’s Board (including, without limitation, through a merger, consolidation, stock purchase, or sale of all or
substantially all of the Company’s assets) or the earlier to occur of (a) the date on which all Registrable Securities held by such holder have been disposed; (b) the date on which
all Registrable Securities held by such holder may be sold without registration in compliance with Rule 144 without regard to volume limitations or other restrictions on transfer
thereunder.
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ARTICLE VII

DEFINITIONS
 

7.1 Defined Terms. In addition to the terms defined elsewhere in this Agreement, the following terms will have the meanings set forth below :
 
“Affiliate” means, with respect to any person, any other person (for all purposes hereunder, including any entities or individuals) that directly or indirectly, through one

or more intermediaries, controls, is controlled by, or is under common control with, such first person. It is expressly agreed that, for purposes of this definition, none of the
Company or any of its subsidiaries is an Affiliate of Walmart or any of its subsidiaries (and vice versa).

 
“Agreement” has the meaning set forth in the preamble.
 
“Applicable Law” means, with respect to any Person, any federal, national, state, local, municipal, international, multinational or SRO statute, law, ordinance,

secondary and subordinate legislation, directives, rule (including rules of common law), regulation, ordinance, treaty, Order, permit, authorization or other requirement
applicable to such Person, its assets, properties, operations or business.

 
“Anti-Takeover Provisions” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.2(f).
 
“Antitrust Laws” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.2(d)(iii).
 
“Bankruptcy Exceptions” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.2(d)(i).
 
“Beneficial Owner”, “Beneficially Own” or “Beneficial Ownership” has the meaning assigned to such term in Rule 13d-3 under the Exchange Act, and a Person’s

beneficial ownership of securities shall be calculated in accordance with the provisions of such Rule (in each case, irrespective of whether or not such Rule is actually applicable
in such circumstance); provided that, except as otherwise specified herein, such calculations shall be made inclusive of all Warrant Shares subject to issuance pursuant to the
Warrant. Solely for purposes of the standstill provisions set forth in Section 5.3 (and for the avoidance of doubt, not for purposes of the Exchange Act), immediately following
the issuance of the Warrant, Walmart and its Affiliates will be treated as having Beneficial Ownership of all of the Warrant Shares.

 
“Blackout Period” means (i) any regular quarterly period during which directors and executive officers of the Company are not permitted to trade under the insider



trading policy or similar policy of the Company then in effect and (ii) in the event that the Company determines in good faith that a registration of securities would (x)
reasonably be expected to materially adversely affect or materially interfere with any bona fide material financing of the Company or any material transaction under
consideration by the Company or (y) require disclosure of information that has not been, and is not otherwise required to be, disclosed to the public, the premature disclosure of
which would adversely affect the Company in any material respect, a period of the shorter of the ending of the condition creating a Blackout Period and up to ninety (90) days;
provided, that a Blackout Period described in this clause (ii) may not occur more than once in any period of six (6) consecutive months.
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“Burdensome Action” has the meaning set forth in Section 4.3.
 
“Business Day” has the meaning set forth in Section 1.3.
 
“Commission” means the United States Securities and Exchange Commission.
 
“Common Stock” has the meaning set forth in the recitals.
 
“Company” has the meaning set forth in the preamble.
 
“control” means the possession, directly or indirectly, of the power to direct or cause the direction of the management and policies of a Person, whether through the

ownership of voting securities, by contract or otherwise. “Controlled” and “controlling” shall be construed accordingly.
 
“conversion” has the meaning set forth in the definition of Equity Securities.
 
“convertible securities” has the meaning set forth in the definition of Equity Securities.
 
“Demand” has the meaning set forth in Section 6.1(a).
 
“Demand Registration” has the meaning set forth in Section 6.1(a).
 
“Demand Registration Statement” has the meaning set forth in Section 6.1(a).
 
“Demand Shareholder” means Walmart or any wholly owned subsidiary of Walmart, in either case that holds Registrable Securities.
 
“EDGAR” means the Commission’s Electronic Data Gathering, Analysis and Retrieval system or any successor system thereto.
 
“Equity Securities” means any and all (i) shares, interests, participations or other equivalents (however designated) of capital stock or other voting securities of a

corporation, any and all equivalent or analogous ownership (or profit) or voting interests in a Person (other than a corporation), (ii) securities convertible into or exchangeable
for shares, interests, participations or other equivalents (however designated) of capital stock or voting securities of (or other ownership or profit or voting interests in) such
Person, and (iii) any and all warrants, rights or options to purchase any of the foregoing, whether voting or nonvoting, and, in each case, whether or not such shares, interests,
participations, equivalents, securities, warrants, options, rights or other interests are authorized or otherwise existing on any date of determination (clauses (ii) and (iii),
collectively “convertible securities” and any conversion, exchange or exercise of any convertible securities, a “conversion”).
 

“Exchange Act” means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.
 
“FINRA” means the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority, Inc.
 
“Form S-3” has the meaning set forth in Section 6.1(a).
 
“Free Writing Prospectus” has the meaning set forth in Section 6.7(a)(v).
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“fully diluted basis” mean as of any time of determination, the number of shares of Common Stock which would then be outstanding assuming the complete exercise,

exchange or conversion of all then outstanding convertible securities, options, rights, and warrants of the Company, provided that such amount shall not include any common
stock issuable upon the vesting of contingent earnout shares or the exercise of warrants assumed in connection with the Company’s business combination with Hennessy Capital
Acquisition Corp. IV.

 
“GAAP” has the meaning set forth in in Section 2.1(a).
 
“Governmental Approval” means any authorization, consent, approval, waiver, exception, variance, order, exemption, publication, filing, declaration, concession,

grant, franchise, agreement, permission, permit, or license of, from or with any Governmental Entity, the giving of notice to or registration with any Governmental Entity or any
other action in respect of any Governmental Entity.

 
“Governmental Entity” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.1(d)(iii).
 
“Group” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 13(d)(3) of the Exchange Act.
 
“Hedging Counterparty” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 6.5(a).
 
“Hedging Transaction” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 6.5(a).
 
“HSR Act” means the Hart-Scott-Rodino Antitrust Improvements Act of 1976, as amended.
 
“HSR Filing Date” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.1(b).
 
“Initial Antitrust Clearance” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.1(b).
 



“Initial Antitrust Filings” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.1(b).
 
“Initial Filing Transaction” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.1(b).
 
“Inspectors” has the meaning set forth in Section 6.7(a)(xi).
 
“Losses” has the meaning set forth in Section 6.10(a).
 
“Marketed Underwritten Shelf Offering” has the meaning set forth in Section 6.3(f).
 
“Order” means any judgment, decision, decree, order, settlement, injunction, writ, stipulation, determination or award issued by any Governmental Entity.
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“Other Antitrust Filings” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.1(b).
 
“Other Demanding Sellers” has the meaning set forth in Section 6.2(b).
 
“Other Proposed Sellers” has the meaning set forth in Section 6.2(b).
 
“Person” means an individual, company, corporation, partnership, limited liability company, trust, body corporate (wherever located) or other entity, organization or

unincorporated association, including any Governmental Entity.
 
“Piggyback Notice” has the meaning set forth in Section 6.2(a).
 
“Piggyback Registration” has the meaning set forth in Section 6.2(a).
 
“Piggyback Seller” has the meaning set forth in Section 6.2(a).
 
“Records” has the meaning set forth in Section 6.7(a)(xi).
 
“Registrable Amount” means an amount of Registrable Securities having an aggregate value of at least $5 million (based on the anticipated offering price (as

reasonably determined in good faith by the Company)), without regard to any underwriting discount or commission, or such lesser amount of Registrable Securities as would
result in the disposition of all of the Registrable Securities Beneficially Owned by the applicable Requesting Shareholder(s); provided, that such lesser amount shall have an
aggregate value of at least $2 million (based on the anticipated offering price (as reasonably determined in good faith by the Company)), without regard to any underwriting
discount or commission.

 
“Registrable Securities” means any and all (i) Warrant or Warrant Shares, (ii) other stock or securities that Walmart or its subsidiaries may be entitled to receive, or

will have received, pursuant to its ownership of the Warrant or Warrant Shares, in lieu of or in addition to shares of Common Stock, and (iii) Equity Securities issued or issuable
directly or indirectly with respect to the securities referred to in the foregoing clause (i) or (ii) by way of conversion or exchange thereof or share dividend or share split or in
connection with a combination of shares, recapitalization, reclassification, merger, amalgamation, arrangement, consolidation or other reorganization. As to any particular
securities constituting Registrable Securities, such securities shall cease to be Registrable Securities when they (x) have been effectively registered or qualified for sale by
prospectus filed under the Securities Act and disposed of in accordance with the Registration Statement covering therein, or (y) may be sold pursuant to Rule 144 without
regard to volume limitations or other restrictions on transfer thereunder. For purposes of this Agreement, a Person shall be deemed to be a holder of Registrable Securities
whenever such Person has the right to acquire directly or indirectly such Registrable Securities (upon conversion or exercise in connection with a transfer of securities or
otherwise, but disregarding any restrictions or limitations upon the exercise of such right), whether or not such acquisition has actually been effected.
 

“Requested Information” has the meaning set forth in Section 6.9(a).
 
“Requesting Shareholders” has the meaning set forth in Section 6.1(a).
 
“Requisite Stockholder Approval” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.2(a).
 
“SEC Reports” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.1(b).
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“Securities Act” shall mean the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.
 
“Selling Shareholders” has the meaning set forth in Section 6.7(a)(i).
 
“Shelf Notice” has the meaning set forth in Section 6.3(a).
 
“Shelf Offering” has the meaning set forth in Section 6.3(f).
 
“Shelf Registration Statement” has the meaning set forth in Section 6.3(a).
 
“SRO” means any (i) ”self-regulatory organization” as defined in Section 3(a)(26) of the Exchange Act, (ii) other United States or foreign securities exchange, futures

exchange, commodities exchange or contract market or (iii) other securities exchange.
 
“subsidiary” means, with respect to such person, any foreign or domestic entity, whether incorporated or unincorporated, of which (i) such person or any other

subsidiary of such person is a general partner, (ii) at least a majority of the voting power to elect a majority of the directors or others performing similar functions with respect to
such other entity is directly or indirectly owned or controlled by such person or by any one or more of such person’s subsidiaries, or (iii) at least fifty percent (50%) of the
equity interests or which are is directly or indirectly owned or controlled by such person or by any one or more of such person’s subsidiaries.

 
“Take-Down Notice” has the meaning set forth in Section 6.3(f).
 



“Transaction Documents” means collectively this Agreement, the Warrant, the EV Agreement and any other agreement entered into by and among the parties and/or
their Affiliates on the date hereof in connection with the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby, in each case, as amended, modified or supplemented from time to time in
accordance with their respective terms.

 
“Transaction Litigation” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.1(e).
 
“Underwritten Offering” means a sale of securities of the Company to an underwriter or underwriters for reoffering to the public.
 
“Walmart” has the meaning set forth in the preamble.
 
“Warrant” has the meaning set forth in Section 1.1.
 
“Warrant Issuance” has the meaning set forth in Section 1.1.
 
“Warrant Shares” has the meaning set forth in Section 1.1.
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ARTICLE VIII

MISCELLANEOUS
 

8.1 Amendment. No amendment of any provision of this Agreement shall be effective unless made in writing and signed by a duly authorized officer of each party.
 
8.2 Waiver of Conditions. The conditions to any party’s obligation to consummate any transaction contemplated herein are for the sole benefit of such party and may be

waived by such party in whole or in part to the extent permitted by Applicable Law. No waiver shall be effective unless it is in writing signed by a duly authorized officer of the
waiving party that makes express reference to the provision or provisions subject to such waiver.

 
8.3 Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in any number of separate counterparts, each such counterpart being deemed to be an original instrument, and all

such counterparts shall together constitute the same agreement. Executed signature pages to this Agreement may be transmitted electronically by “pdf” file and such pdf files
shall be deemed as sufficient as if actual signature pages had been delivered.

 
8.4 Governing Law; Submission to Jurisdiction. Any action or proceeding seeking to enforce any provision of, or based on any right arising out of, this Warrant shall

be brought against either of the parties only in any state or federal court located in the State of Delaware located in the County of New Castle, Delaware. Each party to this
Agreement: (i) expressly and irrevocably consents and submits to the jurisdiction of each state and federal court located in the County of New Castle located in the State of
Delaware (and each appellate court located in the State of Delaware or the applicable federal court of appeals) in connection with any such legal proceeding; (ii) agrees that each
state and federal court located in the County of New Castle, Delaware shall be deemed to be a convenient forum; and (iii) agrees not to assert (by way of motion, as a defense or
otherwise), in any such legal proceeding commenced in any state or federal court located in the County of New Castle, Delaware any claim that such party is not subject
personally to the jurisdiction of such court, that such legal proceeding has been brought in an inconvenient forum, that the venue of such proceeding is improper or that this
Agreement or the subject matter of this Agreement may not be enforced in or by such court. Each of the parties irrevocably waive the right to a jury trial in connection with any
legal proceeding relating to this Agreement or the enforcement of any provision of this Agreement.

 
8.5 Notices. Any notice, request, instruction or other document to be given hereunder by any party to the other shall be in writing and shall be deemed to have been

duly given (a) if sent by registered or certified mail in the United States return receipt requested, upon receipt, (b) if sent by nationally recognized overnight air courier, one
Business Day after mailing, (c) if sent by email, with a copy mailed on the same day in the manner provided in clauses (a) or (b) of this Section 8.5 when transmitted and receipt
is confirmed, or (d) if otherwise actually personally delivered, when delivered. All notices hereunder shall be delivered as set forth below, or pursuant to such other instructions
as may be designated in writing by the party to receive such notice.
 

If to the Company, to:
 
Canoo Inc.
 

15520 Highway 114, Suite 2C
Justin, Texas 76247
Attention: Legal Department
Email: legal@canoo.com 

Hector Ruiz Hector.Ruiz@canoo.com 
Ramesh Murthy Ramesh.Murhty@canoo.com

 
if to Walmart, to:
 
Name: Walmart Inc.
Address: 702 SW 8th Street

Bentonville, AR 72712
Email: WMLGLTRANSACTNOTICE@walmart.com
Attn: General Counsel, Corporate
 

8.6 Entire Agreement, Etc. This Agreement (including the Schedules and Annexes hereto) and the other Transaction Documents, constitute the entire agreement, and
supersede all other prior agreements, understandings, representations and warranties, both written and oral, between the parties, with respect to the subject matter hereof. No
party shall take, or cause to be taken, including by entering into agreements or other arrangements with provisions or obligations that conflict, or purport to conflict, with the
terms of the Transaction Documents or any of the transactions contemplated thereby, any action with either an intent or effect of impairing any such other person’s rights under
any of the Transaction Documents.

 
8.7 Assignment. Neither this Agreement nor any right, remedy, obligation nor liability arising hereunder or by reason hereof shall be assignable by any party without

the prior written consent of the other party, and any attempt to assign any right, remedy, obligation or liability hereunder without such consent shall be void, except that either
party may transfer or assign, in whole or from time to time in part, to one or more of its direct or indirect wholly owned subsidiaries, its rights and/or obligations under this
Agreement, but any such transfer or assignment shall not relieve the other party of its obligations hereunder. Subject to the preceding sentence, this Agreement shall be binding
upon, inure to the benefit of and be enforceable by the parties and their respective successors and assigns.

 
8.8 Severability. If any provision of this Agreement or a Transaction Document, or the application thereof to any person or circumstance, is determined by a court of

competent jurisdiction to be invalid, void or unenforceable, the remaining provisions hereof, or the application of such provision to persons or circumstances other than those as



to which it has been held invalid or unenforceable, shall remain in full force and effect and shall in no way be affected, impaired or invalidated thereby, so long as the economic
or legal substance of the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby is not affected in any manner materially adverse to any party. Upon such determination, the parties shall
negotiate in good faith in an effort to agree upon a suitable and equitable substitute provision to effect the original intent of the parties.
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8.9 No Third Party Beneficiaries. Nothing contained in this Agreement, expressed or implied, is intended to confer upon any person other than the parties (and any

wholly owned subsidiary of Walmart to which an assignment is made in accordance with this Agreement) any benefits, rights, or remedies.
 
8.10 Specific Performance. The parties agree that failure of any party to perform its agreements and covenants hereunder, including a party’s failure to take all actions

as are necessary on such party’s part in accordance with the terms and conditions of this Agreement to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby, will cause irreparable
injury to the other party, for which monetary damages, even if available, will not be an adequate remedy. It is agreed that the parties shall be entitled to equitable relief including
injunctive relief and specific performance of the terms hereof, without the requirement of posting a bond or other security, and each party hereby consents to the issuance of
injunctive relief by any court of competent jurisdiction to compel performance of a party’s obligations and to the granting by any court of the remedy of specific performance of
such party’s obligations hereunder, this being in addition to any other remedies to which the parties are entitled at law or equity.

 
* * *
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this Agreement has been duly executed and delivered by the duly authorized officers of the parties as of the date first herein above written.
 

 CANOO INC.
 
 By: /s/ Tony Aquila
  Name: Tony Aquila
  Title:
 
 WALMART INC.
 
 By: /s/ Michael Guptan
  Name: Michael Guptan
  Title: Senior Vice President – 

Corporate Development
 

 

 

 
Schedule 5.1(a)

 
1. Basic Financial Information and Reporting.
 
A. As soon as practicable after the end of each fiscal year of the Company, and in any event within ninety (90) days thereafter, the Company shall furnish Walmart

with a balance sheet and equity capitalization table of the Company, as of the end of such fiscal year, a statement of income, a statement of stockholders’ equity, and a statement
of cash flows of the Company and accompanying notes to the financial statements, for such year, all audited and prepared in accordance with GAAP consistently applied
(except as noted therein) and setting forth in each case in comparative form the figures for the previous fiscal year, all in reasonable detail. Such financial statements shall be
accompanied by an audit report and opinion thereon by independent public accountants of national standing selected by the Board.

 
B. The Company shall furnish Walmart as soon as practicable after the end of the first, second and third quarterly accounting periods in each fiscal year of the

Company, and in any event within forty-five (45) days thereafter, a balance sheet and equity capitalization table of the Company as of the end of each such quarterly period ,
and a statement of income and a statement of cash flows of the Company for such period and for the current fiscal year to date, prepared in accordance with GAAP consistently
applied (except as noted therein or as disclosed to the recipients thereof), with the exception that no notes need be attached to such statements and year-end audit adjustments
may not have been made. In order to facilitate Walmart’s compliance with its public reporting requirements, the Company shall deliver the financial statements described in this
Schedule 5.1(a) to Walmart, together with a certification that, to the Company’s knowledge, (i) such interim financial statements are fairly stated, in all material respects, in
accordance with GAAP for the periods presented, applied on the same basis as the Company’s audited financial statements as of and for the most recent fiscal year end, and
reflect all adjustments necessary for a fair presentation of the interim financial statements, subject to the exceptions noted on an exhibit to such certification and (ii) that the
Company has made available to Walmart the information required by Section 5.1 of this Agreement. In addition, to facilitate Walmart’s compliance with its public reporting
requirements, the Company shall engage a nationally recognized accounting firm (the “Auditor”) to perform quarterly review procedures that result in the issuance of an
independent accountant’s review report on the Company’s quarterly and year-to-date balance sheet and statement of operations for the periods ending March 31, June 30 and
September 30; which reports shall be delivered within 45 days after the end of the quarter for with the report pertains. In order to facilitate Walmart’s compliance with its public
reporting requirements, the Company’s chief financial officer and chief accounting officer shall participate in one or more teleconferences with Representatives of Walmart each
quarter to review the financial statements previously delivered and discuss significant transactions reflected for the period of the financial statements.

 
C. The Company shall furnish to Walmart at least sixty (60) days prior to the beginning of each fiscal year or as soon as otherwise available in the ordinary course of

the Company’s budgeting process (and as soon as available, any subsequent written revisions thereto) a comprehensive operating budget forecasting the Company’s revenues,
expenses, net income/loss and cash position on a month-to-month basis for the upcoming fiscal year (a “Budget”). Each Budget shall be prepared in accordance with United
States generally accepted accounting principles consistently applied (except as noted thereon).
 

 

 

 



D. All financial information and budgets required under clauses (A) and (B) above shall consist of consolidated financial statements (consolidating the Company and
its subsidiaries) unless GAAP provides otherwise.

 
E. As soon as reasonably practicable, and in any event within 15 business days after the issuance of the report, the Company shall furnish to Walmart any 409A

valuation reports that it prepares or causes to be prepared.
 
2. Inspection Rights. Walmart shall have the right to visit and inspect any of the properties of the Company or any of its subsidiaries, and to discuss the affairs,

finances and accounts of the Company or any of its subsidiaries with its officers, and to review such information as is reasonably requested all at such reasonable business
times, with reasonable advance notice and no more often than Quarterly.

 

 

 

 
ANNEX A

 
Form of Warrant

 
 
 
 
 

 



Exhibit 4.2
 

THE SECURITIES REPRESENTED BY THIS INSTRUMENT HAVE NOT BEEN REGISTERED UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED, OR
THE SECURITIES LAWS OF ANY STATE AND MAY NOT BE TRANSFERRED, SOLD OR OTHERWISE DISPOSED OF EXCEPT PURSUANT TO AN
EFFECTIVE REGISTRATION STATEMENT UNDER SUCH ACT AND APPLICABLE STATE SECURITIES LAWS OR PURSUANT TO AN EXEMPTION
FROM REGISTRATION UNDER SUCH ACT OR SUCH LAWS. HEDGING TRANSACTIONS INVOLVING THESE SECURITIES MAY NOT BE CONDUCTED
UNLESS IN COMPLIANCE WITH THE SECURITIES ACT.
 
THIS INSTRUMENT IS ISSUED PURSUANT TO AND SUBJECT TO THE RESTRICTIONS ON TRANSFER AND OTHER PROVISIONS OF A WARRANT
ISSUANCE AGREEMENT, DATED AS OF JULY 11, 2022, BY AND BETWEEN THE ISSUER OF THESE SECURITIES AND WALMART INC., A
DELAWARE CORPORATION, A COPY OF WHICH IS ON FILE WITH THE ISSUER. THE SECURITIES REPRESENTED BY THIS INSTRUMENT MAY NOT
BE SOLD OR OTHERWISE TRANSFERRED EXCEPT IN COMPLIANCE WITH SAID AGREEMENT. ANY SALE OR OTHER TRANSFER NOT IN
COMPLIANCE WITH SAID AGREEMENT WILL BE
 

CANOO INC.

WARRANT TO PURCHASE COMMON STOCK
 
Number of shares of Common Stock: 61,160,011
Date of Issuance: July 11, 2022 (“Issuance Date”)

 
CANOO INC., a Delaware corporation (the “Company”), hereby certifies that, for good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby

acknowledged, WALMART INC., a Delaware corporation, the registered holder hereof (the “Holder”), is entitled, subject to the terms set forth below, to purchase from the
Company, at the Exercise Price (as defined below) then in effect, upon surrender of this Warrant to Purchase Common Stock (including any Warrants to Purchase Common
Stock issued in exchange, transfer or replacement hereof and any additional Warrants to purchase Common Stock issued pursuant to Section 3, the “Warrant”), at any time or
times on or after the Issuance Date but only with respect to the portion of the Warrant that has vested as of such time, but not after 11:59 p.m., Central Time, on the Expiration
Date (as defined below). Except as otherwise defined herein, capitalized terms in this Warrant shall have the meanings set forth in Section 16.

 
This Warrant is issued: (i) pursuant to and subject to the provisions of the Warrant Issuance Agreement dated as of the Issuance Date between the Holder and the

Company (including any amendments thereto, the “Warrant Issuance Agreement”); and (ii) as a condition to the execution of the Electric Vehicle Agreement dated as of the
Issuance Date by and between the Company and the Holder (including any amendments, addendums, exhibits, annexes, and POs issued thereunder, collectively, the “EV
Agreement”).

 
1. VESTING. This Warrant shall vest and become exercisable as follows:
 

(i) 15,290,003 Warrant Shares will vest and become exercisable immediately on the Issuance Date.
 
(ii) Following the Issuance Date, the remaining Warrant Shares (“Revenue Vesting Shares”) will vest and become exercisable on a pro rata based on

Total Walmart Generated Revenue in an amount proportional to $300 million, until aggregate Total Walmart Generated Revenue shall reach $300 million, at
which time all Revenue Vesting Shares (and all Warrant Shares) shall have vested. For example, at such time as Total Walmart Generated Revenue from and
after the Issuance Date shall have reached $30 million, 10% of the Revenue Vesting Shares shall have become vested and exercisable.

 
(iii) Promptly following the end of each calendar quarter until all Warrant Shares have vested, the Holder shall calculate the Total Walmart Generated

Revenue generated by Walmart and its Affiliates during such calendar quarter (or, for the calendar quarter in which the Issuance Date occurred, since the
Issuance Date) and provide notice to the Company thereof together with calculations that are sufficiently detailed to enable the Company to validate such
determination (the “Revenue Notice”), and the Company shall account for any vesting of the Warrant Shares accordingly. If the Company delivers a Dispute
Notice (as defined below) pursuant to subparagraph (iv) below with respect to the Revenue Notice, the Revenue Vesting Shares subject to dispute shall not
become vested until such time it is determined pursuant to the terms and conditions hereof that the vesting conditions have been satisfied.

 
(iv) If the Company desires to dispute the determination in any such Revenue Notice (such dispute, a “Revenue Dispute”), the Company will provide

written notice to the Holder within ten (10) Business Days following receipt of the Revenue Notice, with reasonable supporting detail of the basis for dispute (a
“Dispute Notice”). The parties shall have twenty (20) Business Days following receipt of the Dispute Notice to work together in good faith to resolve any such
dispute (the “Resolution Period”). In the event that the parties resolve the Revenue Dispute during the Resolution Period, the Warrant Shares subject to vesting
in accordance with such resolution shall become immediately vested on the date of such resolution. In the event the parties are unable to resolve the Revenue
Dispute within the Resolution Period, either the Company or the Holder may, in its sole discretion, elect to commence mediation with a mediator to be mutually
agreed upon the parties in good faith to resolve such dispute. The costs of the mediator shall be shared equally by the Company and the Holder, provided that if
the mediator shall resolve the dispute substantially in the favor of either the Company or the Holder, the other shall bear all costs of the mediator.

 

 

 

 
2. EXERCISE OF WARRANT.
 

(a) Mechanics of Exercise. Subject to the terms and conditions hereof, this Warrant may be exercised by the Holder at any time after the occurrence of the
Applicable Stockholder Vote (and regardless of the outcome of such vote), but only to the extent vested, in whole or in part (except as provided under Section 3 below), by (i)
delivery of a duly executed PDF copy submitted by e-mail (or e-mail attachment) of a written notice, in the form attached hereto as Exhibit A (the “Exercise Notice”), of the
Holder’s election to exercise this Warrant, and (ii) payment to the Company of an amount equal to the Exercise Price multiplied by the number of Warrant Shares as to which
this Warrant is being exercised (the “Aggregate Exercise Price”) (x) in cash by wire transfer of immediately available funds to an account designated by the Company (such
manner of exercise, a “Cash Exercise”) and/or (y) without payment of cash, by reducing the number of Warrant Shares obtainable upon the exercise of this Warrant and
payment of the Exercise Price in cash so as to yield a number of Warrant Shares obtainable upon the exercise of this Warrant (either in full or in part, as applicable) equal to the
product of (A) the number of Warrant Shares issuable upon the exercise of this Warrant (either in full or in part, as applicable) (if payment of the Exercise Price were being
made in cash) and (B) the Cashless Exercise Ratio (such manner of exercise, a “Cashless Exercise”); provided that such product shall be rounded to the nearest whole Warrant
Share. The Company shall cause the Warrant Shares purchased hereunder to be transmitted by the Transfer Agent to the Holder by book entry position, registered in the
Company’s share register in the name of the Holder or its designee, for the number of Warrant Shares to which the Holder is entitled pursuant to such exercise by the date that is
the earlier of (i) two (2) Trading Days after the delivery to the Company of the Exercise Notice and the Aggregate Exercise Price (the “Exercise Delivery Documents”), and (ii)
the number of Trading Days comprising a standard settlement period after the delivery to the Company of the Notice of Exercise (such date, the “Warrant Share Delivery
Date”). Upon delivery of the Exercise Delivery Documents (or if requested by Holder the date the Warrant Shares are transferred to the name of the Holder by book entry
position by the Transfer Agent), the Holder shall be deemed for all corporate purposes to have become the holder of record of the Warrant Shares with respect to which this
Warrant has been exercised.

 
(b) No Fractional Shares. No fractional shares of Common Stock are to be issued upon the exercise of this Warrant, but rather the number of shares to be

issued shall be rounded to the nearest whole number.



 
(c) Charges, Taxes and Expenses. Issuance of Warrant Shares shall be made without charge to the Holder for any issue or transfer tax or other incidental

expense in respect of the issuance of such Warrant Shares, all of which taxes and expenses shall be paid by the Company, and such Warrant Shares shall be issued in the name
of the Holder or in such name or names as may be directed by the Holder; provided, however, that in the event that Warrant Shares are to be issued in a name other than the
name of the Holder, this Warrant when surrendered for exercise shall be accompanied by the Assignment Form attached hereto duly executed by the Holder and the Company
may require, as a condition thereto, the payment of a sum sufficient to reimburse it for any transfer tax incidental thereto. The Company shall pay all Transfer Agent fees
required for same-day processing of any Notice of Exercise and all fees to the Depository Trust Company (or another established clearing corporation performing similar
functions) required for same-day electronic delivery of the Warrant Shares.

 
(d) Delivery of a New Warrant. The Holder shall not be required to surrender this Warrant to the Company for cancellation until the Holder has purchased all

of the Warrant Shares available hereunder and the Warrant has been exercised in full, in which case the Holder shall surrender this Warrant within three (3) Business Days of
the date on which the final Exercise Notice is delivered to the Company. Partial exercise of this Warrant resulting in purchases of a portion of the total number of Warrant
Shares available hereunder shall have the effect of lowering the outstanding number of Warrant Shares purchasable hereunder in an amount equal to the applicable number of
Warrant Shares purchased. The Holder and the Company shall maintain records showing the number of Warrant Shares purchased and the date of such purchases.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, if this Warrant has been exercised in part the Company shall, at the request of the Holder and upon surrender of this Warrant certificate, deliver
to the Holder a new Warrant evidencing the rights of the Holder to purchase the unpurchased Warrant Shares called for by this Warrant, which new Warrant shall in all other
respects be identical with this Warrant.

 
(e) Rescission Rights. If the Company fails to cause the Transfer Agent to transmit to the Holder the Warrant Shares pursuant to Section 2(c)(i) by the

Warrant Share Delivery Date, then the Holder will have the right to rescind such exercise.
 
(f) Exercise Price. For purposes of this Warrant, “Exercise Price” means $2.15 per Warrant Share, subject to adjustment as provided herein.
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(g) Exercise Restriction. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, in no event shall the Company issue more than 53,852,492 shares of Common

Stock in respect of this Warrant unless and until the Company shall have obtained the Requisite Stockholder Approval (as such term is defined in the Warrant Issuance
Agreement); provided, that in lieu of any Shares which would have been issued in connection with a valid exercise of this Warrant but for the application of this Section 2(g)
(such Shares, the “Excess Shares”), the Company shall pay to the Holder an amount in cash equal to the product of: (i) the excess of (x) the 30-Day VWAP as of the day
immediately preceding the applicable exercise date and (y) the Exercise Price, times (ii) the number of Excess Shares. Any cash amounts due pursuant to the foregoing sentence
shall be paid by the Company by wire transfer of immediately available funds on or prior to the Warrant Share Delivery Date applicable to such exercise and following such
payment the Company shall cease to have any further obligations in respect of the portion of the Warrant relating to such Excess Shares.

 
3. ADJUSTMENT OF EXERCISE PRICE AND NUMBER OF WARRANT SHARES.

 
(a) Stock Splits, Subdivisions, Reclassifications or Combinations. If the Company shall at any time or from time to time (a) declare, order, pay or make a

dividend or make a distribution on Common Stock in additional shares of Common Stock, (b) split, subdivide or reclassify the outstanding shares of Common Stock into a
greater number of shares or (c) combine or reclassify the outstanding shares of Common Stock into a smaller number of shares, the number of Warrant Shares issuable upon
exercise of this Warrant at the time of the record date for such dividend or distribution or the effective date of such split, subdivision, combination or reclassification shall be
proportionately adjusted so that the Holder immediately after such record date or effective date, as the case may be, shall be entitled to purchase the number of shares of
Common Stock which such holder would have owned or been entitled to receive in respect of the shares of Common Stock subject to this Warrant after such date had this
Warrant been exercised in full immediately prior to such record date or effective date, as the case may be (disregarding whether or not this Warrant had been exercisable by its
terms at such time). In the event of such adjustment, the Exercise Price in effect at the time of the record date for such dividend or distribution or the effective date of such split,
subdivision, combination or reclassification shall be immediately adjusted to the number obtained by dividing (x) the product of (1) the number of Warrant Shares issuable
upon the exercise of this Warrant in full before the adjustment determined pursuant to the immediately preceding sentence (disregarding whether or not this Warrant was
exercisable by its terms at such time) and (2) the Exercise Price in effect immediately prior to the record or effective date, as the case may be, for the dividend, distribution,
split, subdivision, combination or reclassification giving rise to such adjustment by (y) the new number of Warrant Shares issuable upon exercise of the Warrant in full
determined pursuant to the immediately preceding sentence (disregarding whether or not this Warrant is exercisable by its terms at such time); provided that such product shall
be rounded to the nearest whole Warrant Share.
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(b) Certain Issuances of Common Stock or Convertible Securities. If the Company shall at any time or from time to time issue shares of Common Stock (or

rights or warrants or any other securities or rights exercisable or convertible into or exchangeable for shares of Common Stock (collectively, a “conversion”)), including through
distributions on outstanding securities (collectively, “Convertible Securities”) (other than in Permitted Transactions or transactions to which the adjustments set forth in Section
3(a) are applicable), without consideration or at a consideration per share (or having a conversion price per share) that is less than the Exercise Price then in effect (the date of
such issuance, the “Pricing Date”) then, in such event:

 
(A) the number of Warrant Shares issuable upon the exercise of this Warrant immediately prior to the Pricing Date (the “Initial Number”) shall be increased to the
number obtained by multiplying the Initial Number by a fraction (I) the numerator of which shall be the sum of (x) the number of shares of Common Stock outstanding
immediately prior to the Pricing Date and (y) the number of additional shares of Common Stock issued (or into which Convertible Securities may be converted) and (II)
the denominator of which shall be the sum of (x) the number of shares of Common Stock outstanding immediately prior to the Pricing Date and (y) the number of shares
of Common Stock (rounded to the nearest whole share) which the aggregate consideration in respect of such issuance of shares of Common Stock (or Convertible
Securities) would purchase at the Market Price of Common Stock immediately prior to the Pricing Date; and
 
(B) the Exercise Price payable upon exercise of this Warrant shall be adjusted by multiplying such Exercise Price in effect immediately prior to the Pricing Date by a
fraction, the numerator of which shall be the number of shares of Common Stock issuable upon exercise of this Warrant in full immediately prior to the adjustment
pursuant to clause (A) above (disregarding whether or not this Warrant was exercisable by its terms at such time), and the denominator of which shall be the number of
shares of Common Stock issuable upon exercise of this Warrant in full immediately after the adjustment pursuant to clause (A) above (disregarding whether or not this
Warrant is exercisable by its terms at such time).
 
For purposes of this Section 3(b), “Permitted Transactions” shall include (a) issuances of shares of Common Stock (including upon exercise of options) to directors,
advisors, employees or consultants of the Company pursuant to a stock option plan, employee stock purchase plan, restricted stock plan, other employee benefit plan or
other similar compensatory agreement or arrangement approved by the Board of Directors, (b) issuances of shares of Common Stock in a Qualified Financing, (c)
issuance of the Company’s equity interests upon exercise of warrants or options, or conversion of outstanding equity interests, outstanding as of the Issuance Date, (d)
any sale of the Company’s equity interests pursuant to a registered public offering, (e) sales of Common Stock in transactions deemed to be “at-the-market” sales
pursuant to Rule 415 of the Securities Act, including any sales pursuant to the standby equity purchase agreement, dated as of May 10, 2022, between the Company and



YA-II PN, Ltd., (f) issuance of shares of Common Stock as payment to Company vendors and suppliers, or issuances to secure such payment obligations, and (g)
issuance of Common Stock issuable upon exercise of this Warrant. For the avoidance of doubt, except in connection with any transaction described in Section 3(a), no
adjustment pursuant to this Section 3(b) shall be made to an applicable Exercise Price or number of related Warrant Shares in the case of the issuance of Common Stock
or Convertible Securities at a consideration per share (or having a conversion or exercise price per share) that is equal to or greater than such Exercise Price. Any
adjustment made pursuant to this Section 3(c) shall become effective immediately upon the date of such issuance. For the avoidance of doubt, no increase to the Exercise
Price or decrease in the number of Warrant Shares issuable upon exercise of this Warrant shall be made pursuant to this Section 3(b)
 

(c) Distributions. If the Company, at any time while this Warrant is outstanding, declares or makes any dividend or distributes to holders of shares of
Common Stock (and not to the Holder) evidences of its indebtedness or assets (including cash and cash dividends or property) or rights or warrants to subscribe for or purchase
any security (including, without limitation, any distribution of cash, stock or other securities, property or options by way of a dividend, spin off, reclassification, corporate
rearrangement, scheme of arrangement or other similar transaction other than dividends or distributions pursuant to Section 3(a)) (a “Distribution”), then the Holder will be
entitled to participate in such Distribution to the same extent that the Holder would have participated therein if the Holder had held the number of shares of Common Stock
acquirable upon exercise of the Warrant solely to the extent exercisable immediately before the date as of which a record is taken for such Distribution, or, if no such record is
taken, the date as of which the record holders of shares of Common Stock are to be determined for the participation in such Distribution.
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4. SALE OR LIQUIDATION TRANSACTION. Upon the occurrence of a Change of Control, liquidation, or similar event with respect to the Company, (a) the portion

of the Warrant that is vested at the time of such event shall be deemed automatically exercised immediately prior to such event and all amounts payable with respect to the
Common Stock shall include the Warrant Shares resulting from such exercise (less the applicable Aggregate Exercise Price). and (b) the portion of the Warrant that is unvested
at the time of such event shall remain outstanding and assumed by the successor entity. Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the event the Change of Control, liquidation, or similar
event could negatively impact the Holder’s ability to earn Warrant Shares, including without limitation by adversely impacting in any respect the potential amount of Total
Walmart Generated Revenue, the portion of the Warrant that remains unvested, if any, at the time of such event shall accelerate and fully vest immediately prior thereto.

 
5. WARRANT HOLDER NOT DEEMED A STOCKHOLDER. The Holder, solely in such Person’s capacity as the Holder of this Warrant, shall not be entitled to

vote or receive distributions or be deemed a holder of Common Stock of the Company for any purpose, nor shall anything contained in this Warrant be construed to confer upon
the Holder, solely in such Person’s capacity as the Holder of this Warrant, any of the rights of a stockholder of the Company or any right to vote, give or withhold consent to
any company action (whether any reorganization, issue of shares, reclassification of shares, consolidation, merger, conveyance or otherwise), receive notice of meetings, receive
distributions or subscription rights, or otherwise, prior to the issuance to the Holder of the Warrant Shares which such Person is then entitled to receive upon the due exercise of
this Warrant. In addition, nothing contained in this Warrant shall be construed as imposing any liabilities on the Holder to purchase any securities (upon exercise of this Warrant
or otherwise) or as a stockholder of the Company, whether such liabilities are asserted by the Company or by creditors of the Company. 

 
6. REISSUANCE OF WARRANTS. 

 
(a) Restrictions on Transfer. The Holder may not sell, exchange, assign, pledge, hypothecate, gift or otherwise transfer, dispose of or make or permit any

indirect transfer of this Warrant without the prior written consent of the Company’s board of directors; provided, however, that the Holder may assign this Warrant to any of its
Affiliates without such prior written consent.

 
(b) Lost, Stolen or Mutilated Warrant. Upon receipt by the Company of evidence reasonably satisfactory to the Company of the loss, theft, destruction or

mutilation of this Warrant, and, in the case of loss, theft or destruction, of any indemnification undertaking by the Holder to the Company in customary form and, in the case of
mutilation, upon surrender and cancellation of this Warrant, the Company shall execute and deliver to the Holder a new Warrant.

 
7. FACILITATION OF SALES UNDER RULE 144. For as long as the Holder or any Permitted Transferee owns any Warrant Shares, to the extent it shall be required

to do so under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), the Company shall timely file the reports required to be filed by it under the Exchange
Act or the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”), and submit all required Interactive Data Files (as defined in rules and regulations promulgated by the
SEC), and the Company shall, and shall procure any relevant third party to, take such further necessary action required from time to time to enable the Holder to sell its Warrant
Shares (including, without limitation, for the purpose of the removal of any restrictive legend on the Warrant Shares, such as by providing an opinion letter from the Company’s
counsel to the Holder or any relevant transfer agent) as from the first Business Day after the delivery of the Exercise Delivery Documents, without registration under the
Securities Act within the limitations of the exemption provided by Rule 144 under the Securities Act.
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8. NONWAIVER AND EXPENSES. No course of dealing or any delay or failure to exercise any right hereunder on the part of Holder shall operate as a waiver of such

right or otherwise prejudice the Holder’s rights, powers or remedies. Without limiting any other provision of this Warrant, if the Company willfully and knowingly fails to
comply with any provision of this Warrant, which results in any material damages to the Holder, the Company shall pay to the Holder such amounts as shall be sufficient to
cover any costs and expenses including, but not limited to, reasonable attorneys’ fees, including those of appellate proceedings, incurred by the Holder in collecting any amounts
due pursuant hereto or in otherwise enforcing any of its rights, powers or remedies hereunder.

 
9. SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS. Subject to applicable securities laws, this Warrant and the rights and obligations evidenced hereby shall inure to the benefit of and

be binding upon the successors and permitted assigns of the Company and the successors and permitted assigns of Holder. The provisions of this Warrant are intended to be for
the benefit of any Holder from time to time of this Warrant and shall be enforceable by the Holder or holder of Warrant Shares.

 
10. REMEDIES. The Holder, in addition to being entitled to exercise all rights granted by law, including recovery of damages, will be entitled to specific performance

of its rights under this Warrant. The Company agrees that monetary damages would not be adequate compensation for any loss incurred by reason of a breach by it of the
provisions of this Warrant and hereby agrees to waive and not to assert the defense in any action for specific performance that a remedy at law would be adequate.

 
11. NOTICES. To be effective, any notice, consent, or communication required or permitted to be given in connection with this Warrant must be in writing and

personally delivered or sent by messenger, overnight courier, electronic mail, or certified mail and addressed as set forth below. All notices, consents, and communications are
deemed delivered and received by the receiving party (a) if personally delivered or delivered by messenger, on the date of delivery or on the date delivery was refused, (b) if
delivered by electronic mail, upon receipt of confirmation of the party transmitting such electronic mail, or (c) if delivered by overnight courier or certified mail, on the date of
delivery as established by the return receipt, courier service confirmation, or similar documentation (or the date on which the courier or postal service, as the case may be,
confirms that acceptance of delivery was refused or undeliverable). Each notice shall be addressed as follows: 

 
If to the Company:
 

Canoo Inc.
15520 Highway 114, Suite 2C



Justin, Texas 76247
Attention: Legal Department
Email: legal@canoo.com

Hector Ruiz Hector.Ruiz@canoo.com
Ramesh Murthy Ramesh.Murhty@canoo.com

 
If to the Holder:
 

Walmart Inc.
702 S.W. 8th Street
Bentonville, AR 72716
Attention: Corporate Development and M&A Legal
Email: transactionnotices@walmartlegal.com

Michael Guptan Michael.Guptan@walmart.com
Zuzana Gajduskova ZGajduskova@walmart.com
Harsha Pakhal Harsha.Pakhal@walmart.com
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12. AMENDMENT AND WAIVER. Except as otherwise provided herein, neither the Company nor the Holder shall amend this Warrant, take any action herein

prohibited, or omit to perform any act herein required to be performed by it, without the written consent of the other party. 
 
13. GOVERNING LAW. This Warrant shall be governed by and construed and enforced in accordance with, and all questions concerning the construction, validity,

interpretation and performance of this Warrant shall be governed by the laws of the State of Delaware (without giving effect to any choice of law or conflict of law provision or
rule). 

 
14. CONSTRUCTION; HEADINGS. This Warrant shall be deemed to be jointly drafted by the Company and the Holder and shall not be construed against any

person as the drafter hereof. The headings of this Warrant are for convenience of reference and shall not form part of, or affect the interpretation of, this Warrant. 
 
15. SUBMISSION TO JURISDICTION. Any action or proceeding seeking to enforce any provision of, or based on any right arising out of, this Warrant shall be

brought against either of the parties only in any state or federal court located in the State of Delaware located in the County of New Castle, Delaware. Each party to this
Agreement: (i) expressly and irrevocably consents and submits to the jurisdiction of each state and federal court located in the County of New Castle located in the State of
Delaware (and each appellate court located in the State of Delaware or the applicable federal court of appeals) in connection with any such legal proceeding; (ii) agrees that each
state and federal court located in the County of New Castle, Delaware shall be deemed to be a convenient forum; and (iii) agrees not to assert (by way of motion, as a defense or
otherwise), in any such legal proceeding commenced in any state or federal court located in the County of New Castle, Delaware any claim that such party is not subject
personally to the jurisdiction of such court, that such legal proceeding has been brought in an inconvenient forum, that the venue of such proceeding is improper or that this
Agreement or the subject matter of this Agreement may not be enforced in or by such court. Each of the parties irrevocably waive the right to a jury trial in connection with any
legal proceeding relating to this Agreement or the enforcement of any provision of this Agreement.  

 
16. CERTAIN DEFINITIONS. For purposes of this Warrant, the following terms shall have the following meanings:

 
(a) “30-Day VWAP” means, as of any date, the volume weighted average price per share of the Common Stock on the Principal Trading Market (as reported by

Bloomberg L.P. (or its successor) or, if not available, by another authoritative source mutually agreed by the Holder and the Company) from 9:30 a.m. (New York City
time) on the Trading Day that is thirty (30) Trading Days preceding such date to 4:00 p.m. (New York City time) on the last Trading Day immediately preceding such
date.

 
(b) “Applicable Stockholder Vote” means the first duly convened meeting of the stockholders of the Company at which a resolution for the purpose of obtaining

the Requisite Stockholder Approval (as such term is defined in the Warrant Issuance Agreement) is presented to the stockholders and voted upon, regardless of the
outcome of such vote.

 
(c) “Affiliate” means any Person that, directly or indirectly through one or more intermediaries, controls or is controlled by or is under common control with a

Person, as such terms are used in and construed under Rule 405 under the Securities Act.
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(d) “Business Day” means any day other than Saturday, Sunday or other day on which commercial banks in The City of New York are authorized or required

by law to remain closed.
 
(e) “Cash Exercise” has the meaning set forth in Section 2(a).
 
(f) “Cashless Exercise” has the meaning set forth in Section 2(a).
 
(g) “Cashless Exercise Ratio” with respect to any exercise of this Warrant means a fraction (i) the numerator of which is the excess of (x) the 30-Day VWAP as

of the day immediately preceding such exercise date over (y) the Exercise Price, and (ii) the denominator of which is the 30-Day VWAP as of the day immediately
preceding such exercise date.

 
(h) “Common Stock” means (i) the Company’s Common Stock, $.0001 par value per share, and (ii) any stock into which such Common Stock shall have been

changed or any stock resulting from a reclassification of such Common Stock.
 
(i) “Company Capitalization” means the sum of: (1) all shares of capital stock of the Company (on an as-converted basis) issued and outstanding, assuming

exercise or conversion of all outstanding vested and unvested options, warrants and other convertible securities: and (2) all shares of Common Stock of the Company
reserved and available for future grant under any equity incentive or similar plan of the Company, and/or any equity incentive or similar plan to be created or increased
in connection with the Qualified Financing, as applicable.

 
(j) “Expiration Date” means the date 10 years after the Issuance Date or, if such date falls on a day other than a Business Day, the next Business Day (the

“Initial Expiration Date”), provided that if all Warrant Shares shall not have vested on such Initial Expiration Date and the Company is continuing to recognize Total
Walmart Generated Revenue at such time, the Expiration Date shall be extended an additional sixty (60) calendar days following the end of the calendar quarter in



which such Initial Expiration Date occurred to permit the determination of Total Walmart Generated Revenue through the Initial Expiration Date and the associated
vesting of Revenue Vesting Warrants in accordance with Section 1 hereof.

 
(k) “Net Revenue” means gross sales less discounts, returns, allowances and sales tax.
 
(l) “Person” means an individual, a limited liability company, a partnership, a joint venture, a corporation, a trust, an unincorporated organization, any other

entity and a government or any department or agency thereof.
 
(m) “Principal Trading Market” means the trading market on which the Common Stock is primarily listed on and quoted for trading, and which, as of the Issue

Date is The NASDAQ Capital Market
 
(n) “Qualified Financing” means the first transaction or series of related transactions during each successive 24-month period following the Issuance Date in

which the Company sells and issues Common Stock or similar securities primarily for the purpose of raising capital in an amount not exceeding the lesser of: (x)
$100,000,000 and (y) 10% of the Company Capitalization at the time of such transaction. For clarity purposes, any transaction or series of related transactions in which
the Company sells and issues Common Stock or similar securities primarily for the purpose of raising capital which is not a Qualified Transaction or otherwise not a
Permitted Transaction shall be subject to the provisions of Section 3(b) hereof.
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(o) “Total Walmart Generated Revenue” shall include all Net Revenue to Canoo or its Affiliates enabled by Walmart or its Affiliates, including without

limitation Net Revenue to Canoo or its Affiliates under the EV Agreement or any other agreement with Walmart or its Affiliates and Net Revenue attributable to any
products or services offered by Walmart or its Affiliates related to Canoo or its Affiliates.

 
(p) “Trading Day” means a day on which the Principal Trading Market is open for trading. If the Common Stock is not listed on any Trading Market, then

“Trading Day” means Business Day.
 
(q) “Trading Market” means the Nasdaq Global Select Market or the market or exchange on which the Common Stock is listed or quoted for trading on the date

in question.
 
(r) “Transfer Agent” means the Company and any successor transfer agent of the Company.
 
(s) “Warrant Shares” means fully paid and nonassessable shares of Common Stock of the Company as adjusted from time to time as contemplated herein.
 

[Signature Page Follows]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Company has caused this Warrant to Purchase Common Stock to be duly executed as of the Issuance Date set out above.

 
 CANOO INC.
   
 By: /s/ Tony Aquila
 Name: Tony Aquila
 Title: CHAIRMAN & CEO
   

 
WALMART INC.  
   
By: /s/ Michael Guptan  
Name: Michael Guptan  
Title: Senior Vice President – Corporate Development  

  
[Signature Page to Warrant]

 

 

 

 
Exhibit A

 
EXERCISE NOTICE

 
To: Canoo Inc.  Dated: ____________________
  

The undersigned, pursuant to the provisions set forth in the attached Warrant, hereby agrees to subscribe for and purchase the number of shares of Common Stock set
forth below covered by such Warrant. The undersigned, in accordance with Section 2 of the Warrant, hereby agrees to pay the aggregate Exercise Price for such shares of
Common Stock. A new warrant evidencing the remaining shares of Common Stock covered by such Warrant, but not yet subscribed for and purchased, if any, should be issued
in the name of the Holder.

 
Number of shares of Common Stock with respect to which the Warrant is being exercised (including shares to be withheld as payment of the Exercise Price

pursuant to the Cashless Exercise provisions of Section 2(a) of the Warrant, if any):
______________________________________

 
Method of Payment of Exercise Price (note if Cashless Exercise or cash exercise pursuant to Section 2(a) of the Warrant):

___________________________________



 
Aggregate Exercise Price: _______________________________

 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has caused this Exercise Notice to be executed on the day and year first above written.

 
   
 [Printed or Typed Entity Name]
   
 By:   
      (Signature)
 Name:   
 Title:   

 
 
 

 



Exhibit 99.1
 

 

 
 

 
Walmart to Purchase 4,500 Canoo Electric Delivery Vehicles to be Used for Last Mile 

Deliveries in Support of Its Growing eCommerce Business
 

The retailer will be the first to receive Canoo’s Lifestyle Delivery Vehicle which is anticipated to 
begin hitting the road for Walmart deliveries in 2023.

 
Bentonville, AR – (July 12, 2022) Walmart (NYSE: WMT) has signed a definitive agreement with Canoo (NASDAQ: GOEV), a high-tech advanced mobility company, to
purchase 4,500 all-electric delivery vehicles, beginning with the Lifestyle Delivery Vehicle (LDV), with the option to purchase up to 10,000 units. The vehicles will be used to
deliver online orders in a sustainable way which will also contribute to Walmart’s goal to achieve zero-emissions by 2040. While the LDV is expected to begin hitting the road
in 2023, the companies plan to kick-off advanced deliveries to refine and finalize vehicle configuration in the Dallas Fort Worth metroplex in the coming weeks.
 
The LDV: Engineered for sustainable last mile deliveries with improved driver ergonomics and safety
Canoo’s fully electric Lifestyle Delivery Vehicle (LDV) is an American-made commercial EV optimized for sustainable last mile delivery use cases. As with all Canoo
vehicles, the LDV is built on a proprietary multi-purpose platform (MPP) architecture that integrates the motors, battery module and other critical driving components. The
LDV has a last mile delivery optimized cabin and customized cargo space. Canoo is utilizing true steer by wire technology, reducing moving parts and cabin intrusion, resulting
in more usable interior space, better driver ergonomics and the addition of a panoramic window to improve road visibility.
 
The LDV is engineered for high frequency stop-and-go deliveries and speedy vehicle to door drop-off, including grocery and food/meal delivery. Its customized interior is
designed for small package delivery, at competitive per stop economics. The modular design and 120 cubic feet cargo volume are adaptable to evolve with customer needs
which contributes to a decreasing per unit investment over time.
 
“We are proud to have been selected by Walmart, one of the most sophisticated buyers in the world, to provide our high-tech, all-electric, American made Lifestyle Delivery
Vehicle to add to their impressive logistics capabilities. Our LDV has the turning radius of a small passenger vehicle on a parking friendly, compact footprint, yet the payload
and cargo space of a commercial delivery vehicle. This is the winning algorithm to seriously compete in the last mile delivery race, globally,” said Tony Aquila, Investor,
Chairman and CEO of Canoo. “Walmart’s massive store footprint provides a strategic advantage in today’s growing ‘Need it now’ mindset and an unmatched opportunity for
growing EV demand, especially at today’s gas prices.”
 
Expanding Walmart’s Last Mile Delivery Fleet
Canoo’s electric vehicles will be driven by Walmart associates and used to deliver online orders, from groceries to general merchandise, as well as the potential to be used for
Walmart GoLocal, the retailer’s delivery-as-a-service business.
 

 

 
 

 
 
“We’re thrilled to continue diversifying our last mile delivery fleet with Canoo’s unique and sustainably focused all-electric technology which will provide our associates with
safe, ergonomic delivery vehicles,” said David Guggina, senior vice president of innovation and automation, Walmart U.S. “Today, the closest Walmart to customers is right in
their pockets – it’s the Walmart app. By continuing to expand our last mile delivery fleet in a sustainable way, we’re able to provide customers and Walmart+ members with
even more access to same-day deliveries while keeping costs low.”
 
In addition to dedicated fulfillment centers, Walmart uses 3,800 of its stores, which are located within 10 miles of 90% of the U.S. population, to fulfill online orders. The
retailer does this using a combination of Walmart associates, independent contractors driving on the Spark Driver Network, third-party delivery service providers, and in some
locations, autonomous vehicles and drones, to make deliveries. Through their expansive last mile delivery network, Walmart can reach 80% of the U.S. population with same-
day delivery on a growing assortment of items.
 
Collaborating Close to Home
Canoo’s agreement with Walmart builds on the company’s existing commitments in the state of Arkansas. Last year Canoo announced it had selected Bentonville, Arkansas, as
its headquarters and Pryor, Oklahoma as the site for its U.S. manufacturing, further establishing an EV ecosystem in the heartland to create thousands of technology and
manufacturing jobs in the surrounding communities.
 
“We’re encouraged that by being located in close proximity to the Canoo headquarters, we have the advantage to collaborate and innovate in real-time as well as the opportunity
to aid in the creation of manufacturing and technology jobs here in our home state of Arkansas,” added Guggina.
 
Canoo anticipates starting production of the Lifestyle Delivery Vehicles beginning in Q4, 2022.
 

# # #
 
About Canoo
Canoo’s mission is to bring EVs to Everyone. The company has developed breakthrough electric vehicles that are reinventing the automotive landscape with bold innovations in
design, pioneering technologies, and a unique business model that spans the full lifecycle of the vehicle. Distinguished by its experienced team from leading technology and
automotive companies – Canoo has designed a modular electric platform purpose-built to deliver maximum vehicle interior space that is customizable across all owners in the
vehicle lifecycle to support a wide range of vehicle applications for consumers and businesses.
 
Canoo has teams in California, Texas, Oklahoma and Arkansas. For more information, please visit www.canoo.com. For Canoo press materials, including photos, please visit
press.canoo.com. For investors, please visit investors.canoo.com.
 



 

 

 
 
 
About Walmart 
Walmart Inc. (NYSE: WMT) helps people around the world save money and live better — anytime and anywhere — in retail stores, online, and through their mobile devices.
Each week, approximately 230 million customers and members visit more than 10,500 stores and clubs under 46 banners in 24 countries and eCommerce websites. With fiscal
year 2022 revenue of $573 billion, Walmart employs approximately 2.3 million associates worldwide. Walmart continues to be a leader in sustainability, corporate philanthropy
and employment opportunity. Additional information about Walmart can be found by visiting corporate.walmart.com, on Facebook at facebook.com/walmart and on Twitter
at twitter.com/walmart. 
 
 
Forward-Looking Statements
The information in this press release includes “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of the “safe harbor” provisions of the United States Private Securities Litigation
Reform Act of 1995. Forward- looking statements may be identified by the use of words such as “estimate,” “plan,” “project,” “forecast,” “intend,” “will,” “expect,”
“anticipate,” “believe,” “seek,” “target” or other similar expressions that predict or indicate future events or trends or that are not statements of historical matters. These
forward-looking statements include, but are not limited to, statements regarding estimates and forecasts of financial and performance metrics, expectations and timing related to
commercial product launches and the achievement of operational milestones, including the ability to meet and/or accelerate anticipated production timelines, Canoo's ability to
capitalize on commercial opportunities, current or anticipated customer orders, and expectations regarding the development of facilities. These statements are based on various
assumptions, whether or not identified in this press release, and on the current expectations of Canoo’s management and are not predictions of actual performance. These
forward-looking statements are provided for illustrative purposes only and are not intended to serve as, and must not be relied on by any investor as, a guarantee, an assurance, a
prediction or a definitive statement of fact or probability. Actual events and circumstances are difficult or impossible to predict and will differ from assumptions. Many actual
events and circumstances are beyond the control of Canoo. These forward-looking statements are subject to a number of risks and uncertainties, including changes in domestic
and foreign business, market, financial, political and legal conditions; Canoo’s ability to access future capital, via debt or equity markets, or other sources; the rollout of
Canoo's business and the timing of expected business milestones and commercial launch; future market adoption of Canoo's offerings; risks related to Canoo's go-to-market
strategy and manufacturing strategy; the effects of competition on Canoo's future business, and those factors discussed under the captions “Risk Factors” and “Management's
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations" in Canoo's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2021 filed with the
U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) on March 1, 2022, as well as its past and future Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q and other filings with the SEC, copies
of which may be obtained by visiting Canoo's Investors Relations website at investors.canoo.com or the SEC's website at www.sec.gov. If any of these risks materialize or our
assumptions prove incorrect, actual results could differ materially from the results implied by these forward-looking statements. There may be additional risks that Canoo does
not presently know or that Canoo currently believes are immaterial that could also cause actual results to differ from those contained in the forward-looking statements. In
addition, forward-looking statements reflect Canoo’s expectations, plans or forecasts of future events and views as of the date of this press release. Canoo anticipates that
subsequent events and developments will cause Canoo’s assessments to change.
 
 

 

 

 
 
 
However, while Canoo may elect to update these forward-looking statements at some point in the future, Canoo specifically disclaims any obligation to do so. These forward-
looking statements should not be relied upon as representing Canoo’s assessments as of any date subsequent to the date of this press release. Accordingly, undue reliance should
not be placed upon the forward-looking statements.
 
 
Media Contacts:
Agnes Gomes-Koizumi, VP, Communications
Press@canoo.com
 
Camille Dunn
www.news.walmart.com/reporter
1-800-331-0085
 
 

 


